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Key initiatives
The past year has delivered 
many improvements to our 
CUA member experience.

New CUA website & digital upgrades
We launched our new member-centric cua.com.au 
website, co-designed by members. The website 
is CUA’s busiest channel for sales and enquiries 
with more than 24,000 user sessions each day. 
We also redesigned the CUA Health website.

Branch refurbishments
Three CUA branches at Castle Hill (NSW), Mount 
Gravatt (QLD) and Eastland (VIC) underwent a 
refurbishment, reopening as new-look integrated 
one-stop shops. Each has a dedicated CUA Health 
zone, a strong digital focus and a more open 
layout for interacting with members.

CUA credit cards
We launched our first ever on-balance sheet credit 
card, giving CUA more flexibility and control over 
the member experience. Members can choose from 
a Low Rate Credit Card and a Platinum Credit Card.

Annual highlights



It was also another strong year of growth for CUA 
Health, with more than 8,600 new policies taken 
out during the year. We now provide private health 
insurance to 80,278 Australians. 

Credicorp has grown as anticipated this year 
following our decision in 2014 to invest in the 
development of a new product suite and in 
particular to expand our product range to include 
a protection offer for members with a home loan. 
Around 4,600 new policies were taken out during 
the year and we now provide consumer credit 
insurance protection for 14,200 members.

CUA is evolving to ensure we are a genuinely 
Purpose-led organisation. The CUA team, including 
our members, have been actively involved in 
refreshing and renewing our Purpose during the 
past year. It’s exciting to see our renewed Purpose 
– members working together through life’s changes 
for mutual good – coming to life. 

This is all part of our continuing transformation 
toward a modern mutual that reflects the needs, 
hopes and aspirations of our members and the 
communities to which they belong. 

The Board also approved investment in two 
key areas which will further transform CUA by 
strengthening its foundations for the future:

• Our Mutual Good Strategy – to lift and 
strengthen our community investment 
and partnerships; and 

• A new organisational structure to ensure we 
have the people with the skills and capability 
needed to deliver on our Strategy.

Our people
Our members include our people at CUA.  
We are investing in our people through training 
and development opportunities to ensure they 
have the skills and capability to deliver on our 
business objectives and our commitment to 
members. With a footprint stretching from Cairns  
in the north to Traralgon in the south and Perth 
in the west, we are focused on recruiting the best 
talent and creating an environment where people 
look forward to coming to work each day and 
living CUA’s Purpose. 

The Board approved a new organisational 
structure to ensure better business alignment 
with our goals of improving member services 
by uplifting our digital capability and member 
experiences, strengthening financial performance 
and sharpening our focus on community. I wish 
to thank our CEO Rob Goudswaard, his executive 
team and all CUA team members for supporting 
the Board and I’m looking forward to working with 
them closely in the coming year. 

I also wish to thank my fellow Board members 
for their support. In November 2015, we welcomed 
Louise McCann to the Board. Louise’s experience 
in a variety of sectors, including technology and 
media, complements and expands on the 
combined skills matrix of the Board.

I believe we have a strong Board at CUA with 
the skills and experience needed to enhance our 
transformation toward a modern mutual.

Looking forward
The headwinds I referred to earlier will continue 
to impact us in the year ahead with uncertainty 
driven by political and economic factors including 
the Brexit vote in the United Kingdom, historically 
low interest rates and global security concerns. 
It is more important than ever for CUA to keep 
its focus on remaining strong to protect and 
enhance the well-being of our members and 
our wider community. 

The Board’s approval of CUA’s Mutual Good 
Strategy will significantly change the way we 
approach community investment. From FY17 
CUA will start working towards investing up 
to 3% of Net Profit Before Tax and Community 
in community initiatives and use international 
standards to benchmark our impact and 
performance. This will be a key differentiator 
for CUA and will focus our team members on 
achieving financial performance goals to give us 
the flexibility to create even more ways to engage 
with, and through, our members for mutual good. 

We will continue to focus on our Digital First 
Strategy, to keep abreast of the fast-paced digital 
environment and enable members to engage with 
CUA through the channel of their choice. We will 
optimise our branch footprint and other member 
touchpoints and deliver even more member-centric 
digital core products and services including Android 
Pay and an on-line account opening process.

To further our aspiration to be a modern mutual 
we may need to consider proposing a change to 
the constitution to enable us to raise more capital. 
We will put this to a member vote at some stage 
in the next 12 months.

In the coming year CUA will celebrate its 70th 
birthday. I’m confident that by maintaining our 
focus on our financial and team member strengths 
as well as our members’ and community needs 
and aspirations, we will secure CUA’s 
future as a modern mutual.

It’s always a pleasure to contribute to CUA’s 
Annual Report and reflect on what has been a 
year of very strong growth and performance in a 
difficult environment where we have delivered on the 
initiatives to which we committed to remain relevant 
to our members. It is a reminder of the important role 
all of us at CUA have in protecting and enhancing the 
well-being of our members and our wider community.

Last year I commented that forecasting would 
become more difficult due to economic and 

political conditions and so it has proven to 
be. I also said that notwithstanding these 

headwinds, CUA was well placed to 
continue its steady growth of recent 
years. I’m pleased to report that 
CUA continues to be in a strong 
position financially with a significant 
increase in consolidated assets to 
$12.90 billion up from $11.99 billion 
last year, a consolidated Net Profit 
After Tax of $51.66 million (up 5.8% 

from $48.81 million), loans settled 
totalling $2.93 billion and deposits 

up 7.1% to $8.33 billion. Our capital 
resources have increased significantly 

and our capital adequacy ratio sits at an 
optimal 14.25%. We hold over $900 million in 

net assets. This reinforces our position as a strong 
and stable competitor in the financial sector. 

We could not have achieved this without our members 
and I thank them for their ongoing support of CUA 
and its business. We welcomed around 8,000 new 
members this year, taking the total number of people 
entrusting us with their financial security to 439,713. 

I said that CUA would further refine its product suite 
in line with a changing competitive environment. This 
included a commitment to deliver the first truly CUA 
credit card. Our CUA credit card has been delivered 
and there’s been strong interest from our members in 
taking it up. This is an outstanding achievement and 
I would like to thank our people who contributed to 
its delivery. We continued to build upon our capital 
strength while ensuring pricing across the product 
suite reflected CUA’s need to balance continuing 
sustainability with our commitment to providing 
our members with value for money. 

Chairman’s report
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What are the key actions for 2017?
Starting to deliver on our Strategy by improving 
our digital capabilities, growing member numbers, 
strengthening our engagement with our members 
and our people and achieving our financial targets. 

We’re expecting economic conditions to remain 
tough. We’ll enhance our ability to attract members 
by our commitment to deepen our connection to 
communities and by being true to our aspiration to 
create and share value for ourselves, members and 
social causes where our expertise can help. Mutual 
Good isn’t a tag line. It’s up to us to prove to our 
members that we’re authentic. Next year I hope 
to be hearing more members say they belong to 
CUA because we align with their values and desire 
to be part of a community that helps.

I also see our three-year sponsorship 
of Queensland Cricket as a new way of 
approaching the market as well as a further 
bow to our community engagement activities. 
Our partnership with Queensland Cricket 
and the Brisbane Heat will introduce CUA to 
a completely new audience of families, sports fans 
and businesses with the potential to bring new 
members through our doors. 

We should be really pleased with what we’ve 
achieved but I want to see us focus beyond the 
balance sheet to how well we’re serving our 
members and creating value for them. That’s 
how we’ll remain relevant for the next 70 years.

Meeting our members

The team at CUA are passionate about building 
stronger communities and caring for members 
through the changes and challenges in their lives.

We aren’t alone - many of our CUA members 
are also passionate about helping others, giving 
back through community work and volunteering.

Longtime CUA member Vicki van Lohuizen 
regularly gives back to her local community, 
volunteering at nursing homes in Melbourne’s 
north and lending a hand at the community 
markets. As a grandmother, she also devotes 
plenty of attention to Nate and Jax - her twin 
three-year-old grandsons.

This year, it was Vicki’s turn to be pampered. 
She was drawn as the winner of a family holiday 
to Hawaii from CUA and Allianz Insurance. The 
CUA Bundoora team even threw a party in Vicki’s 
honour, to celebrate her win and say thanks for her 
loyalty to CUA and support of the local community.

Q&A with CEO 
Rob Goudswaard

What were the highlights of your first 
full year in the role?
Several things stand out: 

• the involvement of our members, Board and 
people in creating the CUA Purpose, which 
now guides the way we act as a business and 
towards everyone with whom we engage 

• the Board’s approval of our Strategy, our 
roadmap for building-on our 70 year old 
foundations and creating the modern 
mutual our members expect

• developing our Mutual Good Strategy to 
create a greater connection with community 

• delivering on our promise to enhance the 
member experience through improvements 
to online banking for mobile, the CUA credit 
card and the first phase of our streamlined 
loans application system, and

• our financial performance.

Tell us a little more about the 
financial outcomes?
Our financial results were exceptionally strong. 
As the Chairman said, we did experience some 
headwinds but we achieved an almost 6% increase 
in consolidated Net Profit After Tax (NPAT) – up 
from $48.81 million last year to $51.66 million this 
year. Throughout the year, we’ve endeavoured to 
balance our twin goals of offering members value 
through our products and services whilst ensuring 
we remain financially strong. 

We’re working to improve the value of our health 
business. We’ve resolved a few teething problems 

with claims and we’ll start to see some much 
stronger evidence of the health contribution to 
the CUA group in terms of NPAT. About 10% of 
our existing members belong to CUA Health. 
We are doing a strong job in matching members’ 
health needs with the right CUA Health product 
– health insurance has got to be one of the most 
complex products in the world. Our people see it 
as something our members really value and they 
are creating opportunities there. 

The strategy aims to improve member 
access – how is CUA making that happen? 
Members should be able to access CUA through 
the channel of their choice and whenever they 
want, not only during the hours we’re open.

It’s a digital world and our members expect us 
to keep pace. Not doing so is unacceptable. 
Knowing how to leverage dynamically changing 
technology is an ongoing challenge which is why 
our partnerships with fintechs are important. 
When I look at the ideas coming through I see 
lots of possibilities – we need to think about how 
we best continue serving members in running 
business as usual while keeping our minds open 
to fintech opportunities.

The regulatory landscape remains 
challenging – how will CUA work 
in that space?
One of the things that the recent Senate 
inquiry into mutuals and member-owned firms 
demonstrated was the great opportunity we have 
to build the level of knowledge and understanding 
our politicians have about our sector. We need 
to be very persistent to ensure our needs are 
taken into consideration when government makes 
policy decisions. Our industry needs to do more 
to educate our regulators about the impact their 
decisions are having on our ability to compete. 
CUA has a key role to play in being an advocate  
for member-owned organisations.
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In the past year, we’ve introduced new home loans – 
CUA Fresh Start Access and CUA Fresh Start Basic 
– to give homebuyers and investors more choice. 
Our new bundled savings account – eSaver Reward 
– enables members to earn bonus interest if they do 
their everyday banking with CUA. Our new CUA credit 
card responds to feedback from members who wanted 
a more flexible card, which complements other CUA 
services and provides great value.

We are working on being available wherever and 
whenever members need us. We’ve refurbished our 
CUA branches in Castle Hill (NSW) and Eastland (VIC) 
and moved a branch to Garden City Shopping Centre 
in Brisbane. We’ve also invested in digital, with our new 
member-centric CUA and CUA Health websites, and 
a new mobile banking app that averages more than 
60,000 logins per day.

Helping members into homes

Buying a house was only the beginning for Brent 
Reading, 25, and his wife Kate, 26. The next challenge 
is making it feel like home.

The newly-wed Brisbane couple both have busy careers 
in law but at home, they’re becoming accomplished 
renovators of a six-bedroom Queenslander.

“It was in pretty bad shape after a decade as student 
housing, so we’re making repairs, repainting, replacing 
doors and windows, polishing wooden floors and 
landscaping,” Brent said.

The couple purchased the property with a CUA 
variable home loan through the Brisbane CBD branch.

“When you call CUA, you know you’re speaking to 
someone local who understands you and who you 
can trust,” Brent said.

“In the branch, I’m always greeted with a smile and 
they know my name – it’s a great personal experience.”

Our members
CUA’s strong focus on helping members 
by working together has helped drive 
continued member growth. An additional 
7,935 members now bank with CUA.

Kate & Brent 
Reading, Brisbane

CUA helped 
the couple buy 

their home



supplies to new cricket pitches, a school hall 
upgrade, an independent living centre and a 
café for intellectually disabled students to 
learn work and life skills.

Volunteering
CUA employees are actively encouraged to 
roll up their sleeves to volunteer for charitable 
organisations throughout the year. Each year 
CUA provides a full day’s leave to its employees 
to allow them to help CUA members, local 
communities or national charity initiatives. Many 
CUA team members dedicated their FY16 leave 
day to helping our nominated charity SIDS and 
Kids, allowing them to divert more resources 
to where they are needed. 

Bringing local school 
projects to life

Diamond Valley Special Developmental School 
has a simple philosophy when it comes to their 
students: “Live, laugh, learn”.

Around 128 students with varying intellectual 
and physical disabilities attend the school in 
Melbourne’s northern suburbs. 

After winning $5,000 from CUA Community Care 
last year, the school is now putting the finishing 
touches on an independent living centre that will 
give their students a brand new space to live, 
laugh and learn vital life skills. 

In addition to the CUA grant, generous local 
businesses have donated labour and materials 
to transform a former maternal and child health 
centre building, adjacent to the school, into a ‘home’. 
Here, students will learn how to do the laundry, 
cook, vacuum and clean.

“The centre will give our students an exceptional 
opportunity to learn the skills they need for 
independent living in a real-life scenario, ultimately 
making sure they take care of their health and 
wellbeing in the future,” Occupational Therapist 
Mieke van Brouwershaven said.

“CUA’s grant of $5,000 has enabled us to 
transform the bathroom space into a fully 
accessible wet area where our students can 
practice personal hygiene skills like brushing 
their teeth and grooming.”

Our community
CUA was created by members for 
members. A strong connection with 
community continues to underpin 
our organisation, 70 years on from 
the foundation of our oldest 
member credit union.

While our growth and success during the past 12 
months enables us to reinvest in CUA, it also creates 
opportunities to deepen our relationship with members 
and build stronger communities. 

SIDS and Kids
CUA provided much-needed financial and in-kind 
support to SIDS and Kids to continue their work in 
helping to save little lives during pregnancy, birth 
and infancy, as well as providing support to bereaved 
families. Our support has funded a national health 
information portal for health professionals. 

In addition to providing approximately $200,000 in 
financial support this year, CUA employees volunteered 
hundreds of hours to helping support SIDS and Kids to 
deliver important research, education, bereavement 
support and advocacy. CUA members and employees 
also raised more than $13,000 for SIDS and Kids through 
the sale of Red Nose Day merchandise in branches.

School Fun Run program
CUA supported the School Fun Run (SFR) program 
during the year. The program has offered a healthy 
alternative to junk food based fundraising for 28 years. 

CUA has been a major sponsor of the program for 
the past eight years. The program has seen more than 
$14 million invested in improving school learning 
environments and providing a healthy fundraising 
alternative. CUA’s support of the School Fun Run 
allowed the program to reach 631 schools and around 
211,000 students during the 12 months to 30 June 2016.

CUA Community Care
CUA Community Care rewards schools for healthy 
fundraising and participation in the School Fun Run 
program. Each year participating schools located 
within a set radius of 10 selected CUA branches are 
eligible to apply for a $5,000 grant through CUA. A 
four-week community voting period determines the 
winner in each region. A further 20 schools shared 
grants bringing our total Community Care investment 
to $70,000. The grants helped fund projects from art

Diamond Valley 
Special School, 

Melbourne

Beneficiaries of CUA 
Community Care  
program in 2015.
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In February, we launched our CUA Graduate Program 
to provide valuable learning opportunities while 
providing CUA with new talent and fresh perspectives.

We introduced our first automated onboarding 
program to transition new team members into a life rich 
career at CUA. Our Enrich Sales and Service Program 
has rolled out to all Sales division leaders and team 
members in branches, equipping our people to have 
better conversations with members.

Recruitment, onboarding and ongoing professional 
development have been streamlined through a single 
digital platform – Talent Lab.

CUA was recognised by the Workplace Gender Equality 
Agency in November 2015, receiving our second citation 
as Employer of Choice for Gender Equality. 

Living the CUA values

As a team manager in the CUA Direct call centre in 
Sydney, Susana Alves is passionate about providing 
a positive, memorable experience to members. 

Susana’s commitment to living and breathing CUA’s 
values – to care, create and contribute – earned her 
CUA’s most prestigious employee accolade for 2016, 
the Jack Harvey Annual Values Award. 

The award, named in honour of CUA’s founder, 
recognised Susana’s work in leading the recruitment, 
training and coaching of a new insurance team 
within the call centre. 

Susana described the milestone as “A dream come true. 
CUA provides employees with many opportunities and 
I have achieved so much through the support provided 
by the organisation.”

Susana Alves, 
CUA Direct, 

Sydney

Our 2016 
Jack Harvey Annual 

Values Award 
winner

Our people
Our people’s commitment to helping 
members through life’s changes and 
challenges has been a key driver of 
CUA’s success during the past year. 
We’ve supported our people by rolling 
out new training, development and 
recognition initiatives.



WAYNE STEVENSON
B. Com., CA, FAICD
Independent Non-Executive Director

NIGEL AMPHERLAW
B.Com., FCA, MAICD
Independent Non-Executive Director

LOUISE MCCANN
MM MGSM, FAICD, FAIM, FRSA
Independent Non-Executive Director

MICHAEL PRATT AM
SF Fin, GradDip (Org Beh),
FAICD, FAIM, FAHRI, AMP (Harvard)
Independent Non-Executive Director

PAUL BEDBROOK
B.Sc., FSIA, F Fin
Independent Non-Executive Director

DEBORAH O’TOOLE
LLB, MAICD
Independent Non-Executive Director

Michael’s extensive career in banking 
and wealth management in Australia, 
New Zealand and Asia has included 
senior positions at Standard Chartered 
Bank, Westpac, National Australia Bank 
and Bank of New Zealand. Michael is a 
former President of the Australian 
Institute of Banking & Finance.

Michael is Commissioner for Service in 
the NSW Government, Deputy Chair, 
Insurance & Care NSW, Deputy Chancellor 
at Western Sydney University, Chairman 
of Bennelong Funds Management Group 
and a Non-Executive Director of TAL Life 
Insurance.

Michael joined the CUA Board in January 
2013. He chairs the Board Risk Committee 
and sits on the Board Audit and Board 
Strategy & Innovation Committees.

Paul has over 30 years’ experience in 
financial services, specifically in banking, 
insurance and investment management. 
His experience includes senior executive 
roles with ING (the Dutch global banking, 
insurance and investment group) and 
CEO positions in ING DIRECT Canada, 
ING Australia and ING Asia Pacific.

Paul is also Chairman of Zürich Financial 
Services Australia, Elanor Investors Group 
and Disability Sports Australia. He is also 
a Director of the National Blood Authority.

Paul joined the CUA Board in July 2011 
and is Chairman of Credicorp Insurance 
Pty Ltd, a Director of CUA Health Ltd 
and a member of the Board Strategy & 
Innovation Committee.

Deb is a qualified lawyer with more 
than 30 years’ experience in the mining, 
resources and rail freight industries, with 
25 years in finance roles including Chief 
Financial Officer at Aurizon, Queensland 
Cotton and MIM Holdings. She chaired 
the Audit Committee for CSIRO and 
the Norfolk Group, and served on Boards 
including MIM Group, QR National/Aurizon 
Group and Queensland Country Health 
Society.

Deb is a Director of the Wesley Research 
Institute, Sims Metal, Boart Longyear Ltd 
and is on the Queensland University of 
Technology Banking & Finance School 
Advisory Board.

Deb joined the CUA Board in March 2014 
and is a Director of CUA Health Ltd and 
Credicorp Insurance Pty Ltd.

Wayne’s executive background is 
primarily in banking and financial services, 
including senior positions across Australia, 
New Zealand and Asia. Wayne has 15 years’ 
experience in CFO roles, including CFO 
Asia Pacific for ANZ, and experience 
in significant acquisitions, restructures 
and divestments.

Wayne is a Director of Onepath Life 
Insurance Ltd, Onepath General Insurance 
Ltd and ANZ Lenders Mortgage Insurance 
Ltd. He is Chairman of ASX-listed QMS 
Media Ltd and QMS New Zealand Ltd, 
and a Director of QMS Insite Media Pte 
Ltd (Singapore) and Omnigraphics 
Holdings Limited (NZ).

Wayne joined the CUA Board in February 
2014. He is a member of the Board Audit, 
Board Risk and Board Remuneration 
Committees.

Nigel has extensive experience in risk 
management, technology, consulting 
and auditing for financial services 
institutions in Australia and Asia-Pacific. 
He is a chartered accountant and was a 
Partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers for 
22 years, where his leadership positions 
included heading up the financial services 
audit, business advisory services and 
consulting businesses, and senior client 
Lead Partner roles.

Nigel is a Director of the Australian Red 
Cross Blood Service, Grameen Foundation 
Australia, Quickstep Holdings Limited and 
Elanor Funds Management Limited.

Nigel joined the CUA Board in March 
2011. He is Chairman of the Board Audit 
Committee and a member of the Board 
Risk and Board Remuneration Committees.

Louise has diverse experience across 
technology, media, health, education, 
accounting and professional services. 
Her career has included CEO and 
senior executive roles in the media, 
commercial market research, brand and 
communications sectors in Australia, New 
Zealand and Asia. Louise served as a Non-
Executive Director with ASX-listed iiNet 
Limited (2011-2015), where she also 
chaired the Remuneration and 
Nominations Committee.

Louise is currently a Non-Executive 
Director for Macquarie Media Network, 
Grant Thornton Australia Limited, 
University of Notre Dame, Australian 
Physiotherapy Association and Chartered 
Accountants Australia and New Zealand.

Louise joined the CUA Board in 
November 2015 and is a member of 
the Board Risk Committee.

ALAN BEANLAND
B.Sc., FAICD
Chairman and Independent Non-Executive Director

Alan’s business experience spans four continents and 
exceeds four decades, including experience as a Director 
on diverse boards. Alan held senior executive positions 
with Colonial Mutual for 16 years. He has extensive 
experience in financial services, superannuation, 
life insurance, property and technology. 

He is a Director of Colonial Foundation and sits on 
the Board of Orygen, The National Centre of Excellence 
in Youth Mental Health.

Alan was elected as Chairman of CUA’s Board in 2009. 
He is also Chairman of the Board Remuneration and 
Board Strategy & Innovation Committees, a member of 
the Board Risk Committee and a Director of Credicorp 
Insurance Pty Ltd.

CUA Board 
of Directors
As at 30 June, 2016
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SONIA LA PENNA
B.A., GradCertBusAdmin, MAICD, AHRI, AITD
General Manager, Human Resources

MATTHEW LOBDELL
B.Sc, MAICD
Head of Strategy

Sonia has over 18 years’ experience 
in Human Resources in Australia and 
overseas, with the last 12 years at a senior 
executive level. Her experience has included 
HR positions with Serco Sodexo Defence 
Services, Super Retail Group, BRAZIN Ltd, 
Royal Caribbean Cruise Lines, Sunglass Hut 
International and Franklins supermarkets.

Matt has over 20 years’ experience in 
the Australian financial services industry, 
including executive roles across banking, 
superannuation and wealth management 
companies. Prior to joining CUA in 
2013, Matt led the redesign of a personal 
insurance product and service model at a 
leading Australian superannuation fund.

JASON MURRAY
B.Bus, PGDip Mgt, GAICD
General Manager, Products & Marketing

SCOTT NORTH
B.Com, MBIT, FCA, GAICD
Chief Risk Officer

Jason’s financial services experience 
spans a number of product, marketing 
and innovation roles in retail and corporate 
banks and health insurance companies. 
Prior to joining CUA six years ago, he 
spent seven years in the UK shaping 
and managing award-winning banking 
products and solutions to address 
specific customer needs.

Scott has over 20 years’ experience in 
risk management, audit, technology and 
accounting, with over 15 years in financial 
services. He is Director of the Australian 
Retail Credit Association (ARCA) and 
previously held senior roles in enterprise 
risk management and digital risk with GE 
Capital, UBank and NAB Direct Banking.

Executive 
Committee
As at 30 June, 2016*

*Executive structure as at 30 June, 2016. The Executive structure changed 1 August, 2016 to reflect the new organisational structure approved by the Board in FY16.

ROB GOUDSWAARD
B.Ec, GradDip CorpFin, FFIN, FAICD
Chief Executive Officer

SUE COULTER
GAICD
General Manager, Business Transformation 
& Technology

ANDY RIGG
MAICD, DipLM
General Manager, Sales

BRIGID LEISHMAN
MBA (Dist), GAICD, ABINZ 
Chief Operating Officer (Acting)

Rob has over 35 years’ experience in the 
banking and financial sector. His experience 
includes roles as CEO and Director of the 
Rural Finance Corporation of Victoria and 
a variety of senior positions at ANZ within 
Australia and overseas. Rob is a Director 
of World Vision Australia and Cuscal Ltd.

Sue has more than 30 years’ experience 
in financial services across a range of 
executive positions, within Australia and 
the UK. She has delivered transformational 
change programs for HBOS and BankWest. 
Since 2010, she has led the implementation 
of CUA’s major strategic business and 
technology programs.

Andy has 30 years’ experience in retail 
financial services with the last 20 years 
in sales and service leadership roles. His 
career has included roles at a large UK 
mutual, Barclays (UK and South Africa), 
and leading a network of 150 branches and 
50 lenders for a major Australian bank.

STEVE CHUGG
MBA, B.Bus, GAICD
Chief Financial Officer (Acting)

PHILIP FRASER
B.Acc, CIMA, CPA, GAICD
Chief Executive Officer, CUA Health Ltd

Steve has more than 20 years’ 
experience in banking operations in 
Australia. He has held a variety of executive 
and management roles with ANZ across 
multiple customer segments including 
General Manager of Esanda & ANZ Direct 
Sales, and Queensland State Manager of 
Regional Business Banking. Steve replaced 
Chief Financial Officer Anthony Taylor who 
held this position until November 2015.

Philip has five years’ experience at 
CUA including as Head of Finance and 
then CEO of CUA Health. His previous 
experience included senior finance 
positions in Australia and roles as Group 
Financial Controller and Head of Finance 
in some of the UK’s leading asset managers 
and general insurance providers.

Brigid is an experienced senior executive 
with a strong background in financial 
services and operations in Australia and 
overseas. She has experience in business 
transformation and change management. 
Her previous roles have included Managing 
Director Quest (ANZ subsidiary) and Chief 
Manager Operations and General Manager 
Mortgages with ANZ in New Zealand.
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Board Risk Committee
Advise on current and future risk appetite and risk 
management strategy

Oversee and align current and future risks relative to 
risk appetite and capital management

Ensure prudential and statutory requirements for 
risk are met

Ensure risk management strategy, framework and 
management practices limit risks to prudent levels

Oversee appointment, removal, performance and 
objectives of the Chief Risk Officer (CRO) 

Ensure an objective view on the internal control 
environment of the Group.

Board Audit Committee
Review effectiveness of financial reporting and 
professional accounting requirements

Review and endorse for Board approval the annual 
financial statements of CUA

Review and endorse for CUA Financial Planning 
(CUAFP) Board approval the annual financial 
statements of CUAFP

Oversee the internal and external audit functions

Monitor compliance with statutory reporting, other 
legislative requirements (including APRA & ASIC) 
and internal company policy.

Board Remuneration Committee
Assist the Board in discharging its responsibilities in 
relation to remuneration matters under CPS 510

Advise on CUA’s Remuneration Framework for non-
executive directors

Advise on CUA’s Remuneration Policy and 
performance-based incentive framework

Advise on strategic human resources and workplace 
health and safety policies

Advise on succession planning

Assess all persons as to their fitness and propriety 
per the CUA Constitution and the relevant Policy.

Board Strategy & Innovation Committee
Monitor and provide guidance to management on 
major strategic issues, opportunities and initiatives

Evaluate and provide recommendations to the Board 
on major strategic issues or proposals

Guide management on transformation, innovation or 
technologically-related strategies and major projects.

Safeguard integrity in corporate reporting 
& make timely and balanced disclosure
The Executive leaders of CUA provide the Board 
with an annual declaration that, in their opinion, 
the financial records of CUA have been properly 
maintained and:

•  that the financial statements comply with 
the appropriate accounting standards;

•  give a true and fair view of the financial 
position and performance of CUA, and

•  that the opinion has been formed on the 
basis of a sound and effective system of 
risk management and internal control. 

Respect the rights of security holders
As its owners, CUA’s members can attend and vote at 
the AGM and access information about the governance 
of CUA on our website or by contacting the Company 
Secretary. Members have the right to opt in or out of 
receiving information and/or notifications about the 
governance and corporate life of CUA. 

Recognise and manage risk
CUA’s Risk Management Framework follows 
the Three Lines of Defence model.

The Board reviews the Risk Appetite Statement 
and Risk Management Strategy annually. 

The Board Risk Committee has oversight, along 
with the Board Remuneration Committee, of culture, 
and particularly the risk culture of CUA. The Purpose 
is ‘why’ CUA exists and the culture is the ‘way’ CUA 
deals with team members and other stakeholders.

Remunerate fairly and responsibly
The Board Remuneration Committee oversees 
the remuneration framework for CUA.

CUA takes every care to ensure that its Corporate Governance Framework remains fit for purpose. However, these policies, rules, procedures and 
processes are not a substitute for a Board, leadership team and team members focused on ‘doing the right thing.’ Over and above Corporate Governance, 
CUA’s Purpose drives decision-making and behavior consistent with the type of culture that CUA’s members expect to see from their credit union.

Lay solid foundations for 
management and oversight
The Board of CUA is responsible for developing and 
guiding a viable, mutually owned business which lives 
CUA’s Purpose - members working together through 
life’s changes for mutual good.

The Board provides oversight and guidance to the 
leaders of the organisation. The Board Charter and the 
Board Instrument of Delegations set out the respective 
roles and responsibilities of the Board and the leaders 
of CUA, defining which matters are expressly reserved 
to the Board.

The Constitution of CUA outlines the process by 
which directors are appointed, including the way 
members can nominate to join the Board of the credit 
union. Should an election of directors be required 
at the Annual General Meeting (AGM), members 
are provided with information to assist them in 
making a decision.

Each year CUA evaluates the performance of 
the Company, the Board as a whole and each 
Director individually.

Structure the Board to add value
The Board of CUA is wholly independent. Each 
director’s experience, committee memberships, 
other directorships, and length of service is published 
on CUA’s website. The Board has established four 
committees to support its governance of CUA. 
Each committee has a Charter defining its roles and 
responsibilities and is comprised of independent 
directors. The Audit and Risk Committees are chaired 
by a director other than the Chairman of the Board.

The number of Board and Committee meetings, 
as well as the attendees at those meetings is 
disclosed in this Annual Report.

Act ethically and responsibly
The Board’s expectations on the culture and values 
of the credit union are driven by CUA’s Purpose and 
the Board approved Code of Conduct. The Board has 
adopted and adheres to a Directors’ Code of Conduct, 
which is based on the code developed by the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors and forms part of the 
Board Charter.

Corporate Governance
CUA is a member owned organisation. 
In 2016 we are reporting against the 
ASX Corporate Governance Principles 
and Guidelines to provide members with 
further confidence in the governance 
of their credit union.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the financial statements of Credit Union 
Australia Ltd (CUA/Credit Union) and of the Group, being CUA and its controlled entities, for the year ended 
30 June 2016 and the auditor’s report thereon. 
 
 
Directors and Company Secretaries 
 
Directors 
 
The names and details of the Directors of CUA in office during the financial year and until the date of this 
report are as follows.  Directors were in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated. 
 
Alan Beanland 
Nigel Ampherlaw 
Paul Bedbrook 
Louise McCann (appointed 16 November 2015) 
Deborah O’Toole 
Michael Pratt 
Wayne Stevenson 
 
Alan Beanland 
B.Sc., FAICD 
Chairman and Independent Non-Executive Director  
 
Alan joined the Board in September 2009 and was elected Chairman in November 2009. In addition to his role 
as Chairman of the Board, Alan is Chairman of the Board Remuneration and Board Strategy & Innovation 
Committees. He is a member of the Board Risk Committee and a Director of Credicorp Insurance Pty Ltd. 
 
Alan’s business experience spans four continents and exceeds four decades with wide experience as a 
Director on diverse boards. Alan held senior executive positions with Colonial Mutual for 16 years. He has 
extensive experience in a number of industry sectors including financial services, superannuation, life 
insurance, property and technology. He served as the Chairman of Superpartners (2006 - 2012) and as a 
Director of Spotless Group Limited (ASX Listed) (2008 - 2012). 
 
Alan is currently a Director of Colonial Foundation and, in August 2014, was appointed to the Board of Orygen, 
The National Centre of Excellence in Youth Mental Health. 
 
Nigel Ampherlaw 
B.Com., FCA, MAICD 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
 
Nigel joined the Board in March 2011. He is Chairman of the Board Audit Committee and member of the Board 
Risk and Board Remuneration Committees. 
 
Nigel has extensive experience in risk management, technology, consulting and auditing for financial services 
institutions in Australia and the Asia-Pacific region. He is a chartered accountant by profession. He was a 
Partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers for 22 years where he held a number of leadership positions, including 
heading the financial services audit, business advisory services and consulting businesses. He also held a 
number of senior client Lead Partner roles. 
 
Nigel is a Director of the Australian Red Cross Blood Service, Grameen Foundation Australia, Quickstep 
Holdings Limited and Elanor Funds Management Limited. 
 
Paul Bedbrook 
B.Sc., FSIA, F Fin 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
 
Paul joined the Board in July 2011. He is a member of the Board Strategy & Innovation Committee, Chairman of 
Credicorp Insurance Pty Ltd and a Director of CUA Health Ltd. 
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Paul has over 30 years’ experience in financial services, specifically across the areas of banking, insurance and 
investment management. He is a former long term senior executive with ING (the Dutch global banking, 
insurance and investment group) and held CEO positions in ING DIRECT Canada, ING Australia and ING Asia 
Pacific. 
 
Paul is also Chairman of Zürich Financial Services Australia, Elanor Investors Group and Disability Sports 
Australia. He is also a Director of the National Blood Authority. 
 
Louise McCann 
MM MGSM, FAICD, FAIM, FRSA 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
 
Louise joined the Board in November 2015 and is a member of the Board Risk Committee. 
 
Louise has a diverse portfolio including technology, media, health, education, accounting and professional 
services. Louise’s executive career was as a CEO and senior executive in the media, commercial market 
research, brand and communications sectors in Australia, New Zealand and across Asia. From April 2011 until 
August 2015 Louise was a Non-Executive Director with ASX iiNet Limited and Chaired the Remuneration and 
Nominations committee.  iiNet was sold to TPG to form Australia’s second largest telecommunications 
company in August 2015. 
 
Louise’s current Non-Executive Director portfolio comprises, ASX Macquarie Media Network, Grant Thornton 
Australia Limited, University of Notre Dame, Australian Physiotherapy Association and Chartered Accountants 
Australia and New Zealand. 
 
Deborah O'Toole 
LLB, MAICD 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
 
Deb joined the Board in March 2014. She is a Director of CUA Health Ltd and Credicorp Insurance Pty Ltd. 
 
Deb is a qualified lawyer and has more than 30 years’ experience in mining, resources and rail freight 
industries, 25 of which have been focused in the finance function including as CFO at Aurizon, Queensland 
Cotton and MIM Holdings. She served as Chairman of the Audit Committee for CSIRO and the Norfolk Group 
and also on Boards of the MIM Group and the QR National/Aurizon Group. In 2013 she served as an Advisory 
Board Member at Pacific Aluminium. Deb was also a member of the former Workers’ Compensation Board of 
Queensland and a former member of the Queensland Country Health Society. 
 
Deb is a Director of the Wesley Research Institute, Sims Metal, Boart Longyear Ltd and is also a member of the 
Queensland University of Technology Banking & Finance School Advisory Board. 
 
Michael Pratt AM 
SF Fin, GradDip(Org Beh), FAICD, FAIM, FAHRI, AMP(Harvard) 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
 
Michael joined the Board in January 2013. He is Chairman of the Board Risk Committee and is a member of the 
Board Audit and Board Strategy & Innovation Committees.  
 
Michael has had an extensive career in banking and wealth management throughout Australia, New Zealand 
and Asia. He has held very senior positions at Standard Chartered Bank, Westpac, National Australia Bank and 
Bank of New Zealand. In all these roles he has driven major change, delivering strong financial results and 
much improved customer service across multiple channels. Michael is a former President of the Australian 
Institute of Banking & Finance and was the Inaugural Joint President of Finsia. 
 
Michael is Commissioner for Service in the NSW Government and Deputy Chair, Insurance & Care NSW.  He is 
also Deputy Chancellor at Western Sydney University, Chairman of Bennelong Funds Management Group and 
a Non-Executive Director of TAL Life Insurance and Chairman of TAL's Risk Committee. 
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Wayne Stevenson  
B.Com, CA, FAICD 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
 
Wayne joined the Board in February 2014. He is a member of the Board Audit, Board Risk and Board 
Remuneration Committees. 
 
Wayne’s executive background was largely in banking and financial services where he has held several senior 
positions across Australia, New Zealand and Asia. Wayne brings strong expertise of the financial services 
industry including 15 years in CFO roles involving a broad range of disciplines as well as significant 
acquisitions, restructures and divestments. Most recently he was Group General Manager, Group Strategy, 
ANZ and prior to that held the role of CFO Asia Pacific, ANZ. 
 
Wayne is a Director of Onepath Life Insurance Ltd, Onepath General Insurance Ltd and ANZ Lenders 
Mortgage Insurance Ltd. He is also Chairman of QMS Media Ltd (an ASX listed company), Chairman of QMS 
New Zealand Ltd and is also a Director of QMS Insite Media Pte Ltd (Singapore) and Omnigraphics Holdings 
Limited (NZ). 
 
Company Secretaries 
 
The Company Secretaries of CUA at any time during or since the end of the financial year are: 
 
Nicole Pedwell 
Alexander Ong 
 
Nicole Pedwell 
B.IntBus, FGIA, FCIS, GAICD  
Company Secretary 
 
Nicole joined CUA in November 2014 and was appointed Company Secretary of CUA in December 2014. She is 
also Company Secretary to CUA Health Ltd, Credicorp Insurance Pty Ltd, CUA Financial Planning Pty Ltd and 
Credicorp Finance Pty Ltd. 
 
Nicole is a qualified Company Secretary, corporate governance and communications professional. Nicole has 
over 20 years’ investor and stakeholder relations experience in both global and domestic financial services 
entities. Nicole holds a Bachelor of International Business from Griffith University, a Graduate Diploma in 
Applied Corporate Governance from the Governance Institute of Australia and is a graduate of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors. 
 
Alexander Ong 
LL.B(Hons), B.Com 
General Counsel and Company Secretary 
 
Alex joined CUA in March 2013 as General Counsel and Company Secretary. He is also Company Secretary to 
CUA Health Ltd, Credicorp Insurance Pty Ltd, CUA Financial Planning Pty Ltd and Credicorp Finance Pty Ltd. 
 
Alex is a financial services lawyer and compliance professional. His experience spans roles as a government 
regulator, in-house counsel and a private practitioner. Prior to CUA, Alex held senior roles leading the legal, 
compliance and risk management departments of leading financial services organisations, focussed on 
developing and implementing legal and compliance strategy, driving the development of a culture of 
compliance and overseeing strategies to reduce and manage enterprise risk. He has extensive company 
secretarial experience and regularly advises on general corporate law, Directors’ duties and corporate 
governance. Alex holds a Bachelor of Laws (Hons) and Bachelor of Commerce (in accounting and finance) 
from the University of Sydney. 
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Directors’ meetings 
 
The number of meetings of Directors and meetings of Board Committees held during the year and the number 
of meetings attended by each Director was as follows: 
 
A = Number of meetings eligible to attend. 
B = Number of meetings attended. 

 
 

 
Board 

Meetings 
Board Audit 
Committee 

Board Risk 
Committee 

Board 
Remuneration 

Committee 

Board Strategy 
& Innovation 
Committee 

 

 
  A B A B A B A B A B 

A. Beanland 9 9 - - 4 4 5 5 5 5 

N. Ampherlaw 9 9 6 6 4 3 5 5 - - 

P. Bedbrook 9 9 - - - - - - 5 5 

L. McCann 5 5 - - 2 2 - - - - 

D. O'Toole 9 9 - - - - - - - - 

M. Pratt 9 9 6 4 4 4 - - 5 4 

W. Stevenson 9 9 6 6 4 4 5 5 - - 

 
 
The above table relates to the CUA Directors’ meetings. The subsidiaries of CUA have their own Boards and 
Board Committee meetings attended by the respective subsidiary Board members.  
 
 
Directors’ benefits 
 
During, or since the end of the financial year, no Director has received, or become entitled to receive, a benefit 
by reason of a contract entered into by CUA, or its controlled entities, with the Director, a firm of which the 
Director is a member, or an entity in which the Director has a substantial financial interest, other than a benefit 
to which the Director is entitled as a member of CUA.  All transactions with entities associated with Directors 
are at arm’s length and on commercial terms. 
 
Indemnification of directors and officers 
 
During the financial year, CUA paid an insurance premium in respect of an insurance policy for the benefit of 
directors, secretaries, executive officers and employees of the Credit Union and related entities.  The insurance 
policy grants indemnification in respect of certain liabilities for which the Corporations Act 2001 allows 
indemnification.  The insurance policy does not permit the disclosure of the nature of the liabilities insured nor 
the amount of the premium.  No insurance cover has been provided for the benefit of the auditors of the 
Credit Union. 
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Financial performance disclosures 
 
Principal activities 
 
The principal activities of the Credit Union during the financial year comprised the raising of funds by deposit 
and the provision of loans and associated services to members.  Through its controlled entities, the Group was 
also involved in private health insurance, general insurance and securitisation activities.  
 
Review of operations 
 
The Group reported a net profit after income tax for the financial year ended 30 June 2016 of $51.7 million 
(2015: $48.8 million).   
 
The year saw loans and advances (gross) grow by 7.7% year on year, to $11,188.5 million from $10,389.5 million. 
This growth, coupled with the prior periods strong loan issuance, resulted in an improved net interest income 
result despite the margin pressures of cash rate decreases. 
 
Higher expenses for the Group are largely a result of the strategic work undertaken in regards to the 
implementation of the Digital and Distribution strategy, a significant boost to the community spend and the 
launch of the CUA Credit Card this financial year.   
 
CUA continued to increase its household deposits in a competitive environment with its deposits growing 7.1% 
year on year to $8,323.7 million from $7,774.0 million.   
 
Other operating income of the Group of $12.8 million was $3.4 million lower than the prior period result of 
$16.2 million, however, the prior period result included $3.1 million of non-recurring items. 
 
CUA Health Ltd’s contribution of $1.1 million to the Group result is lower than the prior year (2015: $2.5 million) 
due to lower gross margins caused by an increase in the net claims ratio and the negative impact on risk 
equalisation for the financial year. 
 
Dividends 
 
The Constitution of the Parent does not allow for the payment of dividends on any member shares currently 
on issue. 
 
Risk management 
 
The Group’s strategic and operational outcomes are underpinned by the effective management of its key risks 
through the three lines of defence. The Group has continually evaluated and responded to risks faced through 
both internal and external factors, during the year, in accordance with our defined Risk Management Strategy. 
 
The Group’s Risk Management Strategy through the year has been to ensure we support the achievement of 
our business strategy through a clear understanding and processes of how risk is to be effectively managed to 
achieve business growth, enhance financial performance, and maintain reputational integrity through efficient 
and effective operational and management processes. During this period we have continued to invest in 
improvements in the three lines of defence through ongoing investment in risk management processes, people 
and systems. This integrated approach brings together the individual material risk classes to form an 
organisational wide view of risk and enables management to manage risks across the business. 
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Other matters 
 
Capital and Remuneration Prudential Disclosures 
 
For Australian Prudential Regulation Authority’s (APRA) ADI Prudential Standard (APS) 330 Public Disclosure, 
refer to the Prudential Disclosures section of the CUA website (http://www.cua.com.au/about-us/corporate-
governance/prudential-disclosures). 
 
Significant changes in the state of affairs 
 
On 13 July 2015, the Harvey Warehouse Trust No.3 acquired loans and advances from Series 2009-1 Harvey 
Trust ($125.3 million) and Series 2010-1 Harvey Trust ($202.9 million). The loans and advances were acquired 
by drawing against its Westpac borrowing facility. All securitisation borrowings in Series 2009-1 Harvey Trust 
and Series 2010-1 Harvey Trust were repaid to the investors.  
 
On 11 May 2016, the Harvey Warehouse Trust No.3 acquired loans and advances from Series 2006-1 Harvey 
Trust ($76.0 million).  The loans and advances were acquired by drawing against its Westpac borrowing 
facility.  All securitisation borrowings in Series 2006-1 Harvey Trust were repaid to the investors. 
 
Events subsequent to balance date 
 
Since 30 June 2016 there have been no matters or circumstances not otherwise dealt with in the Financial 
Report that have significantly or may significantly affect the Group. 
 
Likely developments 
 
No other matter, circumstance or likely development in the operations has arisen since the end of the financial 
year that has significantly affected or may significantly affect:  
 
(i) The operations of the Credit Union; 
(ii) The results of those operations; or 
(iii) The state of affairs of the Credit Union, 
 
in the financial years subsequent to this financial year. 
 
Environmental regulation 
 
The Group’s operations are not subject to any significant environmental regulations under either 
Commonwealth or State legislation. The Board believes that the Group is not aware of any breach of 
environmental requirements as they apply to the Group. 
 
Rounding 
 
Except where indicated, the amounts contained in this report and in the financial statements have been 
rounded to the nearest thousand dollars in accordance with ASIC Corporations Instrument 2016/191. 
 
Auditor’s independence 
 
The Directors have obtained a copy of the Auditor’s Independence Declaration as required under section 307C 
of the Corporations Act 2001. 
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Consolidated Parent 

 
2016 2015 2016 2015 

  Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Net interest income 
   

 
  

 Interest income 2.1 520,064  512,826  520,064  512,826  

Interest expense 2.1 (287,295) (301,726) (287,621) (302,274) 

Total net interest income 
 232,769  211,100  232,443  210,552  

    
 

  
 Other operating income 2.1 12,760  16,229  25,112  30,341  

    
 

  
 Net insurance income 6.1 17,436  19,088  -  -  

    
 

  
 Total net operating income 

 262,965  246,417  257,555  240,893  

    
 

  
 Expenses 

   
 

  
 Personnel 2.2 (98,373) (93,671) (94,521) (90,065) 

Occupancy 
 (19,360) (19,372) (19,360) (19,372) 

Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment  (7,781) (8,372) (7,778) (8,366) 

Amortisation of intangible assets 2.2 (7,196) (7,503) (7,193) (7,501) 

Information technology 
 (11,650) (9,114) (11,650) (9,114) 

General administrative expense 
 (24,762) (22,617) (23,276) (21,041) 

Other expenses 2.2 (17,873) (18,056) (17,367) (17,714) 

Total operating expenses 
 (186,995) (178,705) (181,145) (173,173) 

    
 

  
 Profit before impairment and income tax 

 75,970  67,712  76,410  67,720  

Impairment of loans and advances 3.2 (3,490) (2,059) (3,490) (2,059) 

    
 

  
 Profit before income tax 

 72,480  65,653  72,920  65,661  

Income tax expense 2.3 (20,816) (18,719) (19,893) (16,871) 

Profit from continuing operations 
 51,664  46,934  53,027  48,790  

    
 

  
 After tax profit from discontinued operation 2.4 -  1,880  -  -  

Profit for the year 
 51,664  48,814  53,027  48,790  

        
 Profit for the year is attributable to: 

   
 

  
 Members of the Parent 

 51,664  48,814  53,027  48,790  

 
 
The income statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated Parent 

 
2016 2015 2016 2015 

  Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
  

 
  

 Profit for the year 
 

51,664  48,814  53,027  48,790  

 
  

 
  

 Other comprehensive income 
 

  
 

  
 Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 

 
  

 
  

 Cash flow hedges: 
 

  
 

  
    Net gain/(loss) taken to members' funds 

 
9,336  (19,504) 9,336  (19,504) 

   Net gain/(loss) transferred to profit and loss 
 

(67) 37  (67) 37  
Net fair value gain/(loss) on available for sale 
financial assets 

 
-  19,454  -  19,454  

Income tax on other comprehensive income 2.3 (2,781) 4  (2,781) 4  

Other comprehensive income after tax 
 

6,488  (9) 6,488  (9) 

 
  

 
  

 Total comprehensive income 
 

58,152  48,805  59,515  48,781  

 
  

 
  

 Total comprehensive income for the period is 
attributable to: 

 
  

 
  

 Members of the Parent 
 

58,152  48,805  59,515  48,781  

 
  

 
  

 Total comprehensive income for the period 
attributable to members of the Parent arises 
from: 

 
  

 
  

 Continuing operations 
 

58,152  46,925  59,515  48,781  

Discontinued operation 
 

-  1,880  -  -  

 
58,152  48,805  59,515  48,781  

 
 
The statements of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated Parent 

 
2016 2015 2016 2015 

  Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Assets 
 

  
 

  
 Cash and cash equivalents 4.1 204,910  144,781  191,580  136,465  

Financial assets - fair value through profit or loss 4.2 69,193  67,646  -  -  

Financial assets - held to maturity 4.2 1,295,701  1,254,399  1,945,528  1,912,452  

Derivative financial instruments 5.1 -  105  -  105  

Loans and advances 3.1 11,193,075  10,390,631  11,193,075  10,390,631  

Financial assets - available for sale 4.2 37,030  37,030  37,030  37,030  

Other assets 7.3 11,516  11,596  3,870  3,777  

Investments in controlled entities 7.8 -  -  800  800  

Property, plant and equipment 7.1 19,130  21,327  19,118  21,320  

Intangible assets 7.2 65,654  54,480  65,652  54,475  

Deferred tax assets 2.3 2,201  5,764  2,428  5,198  

Total assets 
 

12,898,410  11,987,759  13,459,081  12,562,253  

 
  

 
  

 Liabilities 
 

  
 

  
 Deposits 4.3 8,327,205  7,777,533  8,327,180  7,777,752  

Derivative financial instruments 5.1 21,281  30,604  21,281  30,604  

Borrowings 4.4 3,541,870  3,241,992  4,204,987  3,912,575  

Other liabilities 7.4 75,028  63,259  39,479  35,186  

Provisions 7.5 19,001  18,498  19,001  18,498  

Total liabilities 
 

11,984,385  11,131,886  12,611,928  11,774,615  

Net assets 
 

914,025  855,873  847,153  787,638  

 
  

 
  

 Members' funds 
 

  
 

  
 Reserves 7.6 30,298  23,587  30,298  23,587  

Retained earnings 
 

883,727  832,286  816,855  764,051  

Total members' funds 
 

914,025  855,873  847,153  787,638  

 
 
The balance sheets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated 
 

Parent 

 
Reserves 

Retained 
earnings 

Total 
members' 

funds 
 

Reserves 
Retained 
earnings 

Total 
members' 

funds 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 
 

$'000 $'000 $'000 

 Balance at 1 July 2014 23,507 783,561 807,068 
 

23,507 715,350 738,857 

 Profit for the year after tax - 48,814 48,814 
 

- 48,790 48,790 

 Other comprehensive income 
after tax: 

 Cash flow hedges: 
    Net gain/(loss) taken to  

   members' funds (13,653) - (13,653) 
 

(13,653) - (13,653) 
   Net gain/(loss) transferred to  
   profit and loss 26 - 26 

 
26 - 26 

Movement in available for sale 
reserve 13,618 - 13,618 

 
13,618 - 13,618 

 
      

 
      

Total comprehensive income for 
the period (9) 48,814 48,805 

 
(9) 48,790 48,781 

 Movement in general reserve for 
credit losses 2,067 (2,067) - 

 
2,067 (2,067) - 

Movement in redeemed member 
share reserve 108 (108) - 

 
108 (108) - 

Movement in asset revaluation 
reserve (2,086) 2,086 - 

 
(2,086) 2,086 - 

 Balance at 30 June 2015 23,587 832,286 855,873 
 

23,587 764,051 787,638 

 Balance at 1 July 2015 23,587 832,286 855,873 
 

23,587 764,051 787,638 

 
      

 
      

Profit for the year after tax - 51,664 51,664 
 

- 53,027 53,027 

 
      

 
      

Other comprehensive income 
after tax:       

 
      

Cash flow hedges:       
 

      
   Net gain/(loss) taken to  
   members' funds 6,535 - 6,535 

 
6,535 - 6,535 

   Net gain/(loss) transferred to  
   profit and loss (47) - (47) 

 
(47) - (47) 

 
      

 
      

Total comprehensive income for 
the period 6,488 51,664 58,152 

 
6,488 53,027 59,515 

 
      

 
      

Movement in general reserve for 
credit losses 138 (138) - 

 
138 (138) - 

Movement in redeemed member 
share reserve 85 (85) - 

 
85 (85) - 

 
      

 
      

Balance at 30 June 2016 30,298 883,727 914,025 
 

30,298 816,855 847,153 

 
Note:  The nature of the reserves is disclosed in Note 7.6. 

 
The statements of changes in members’ funds should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated Parent 

 
2016 2015 2016 2015 

  Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Cash flows from operating activities 

 
  

 
  

 Interest received 

 
526,258  516,480  523,491  514,243  

Interest paid 

 
(285,773) (299,175) (286,099) (299,724) 

Fees and commissions received 

 
31,392  33,058  34,389  35,877  

Fees and commissions paid 

 
(22,152) (21,917) (20,334) (20,019) 

Contributions/premiums received 

 
149,817  121,918  -  -  

Benefits/claims paid 

 
(125,486) (100,682) -  -  

Dividends received 

 
2,171  1,981  5,671  6,281  

Other non-interest income received 

 
2,852  4,959  5,790  8,732  

Payments to suppliers and employees 

 
(173,244) (157,362) (166,660) (147,860) 

Income tax paid 

 
(16,419) (20,693) (14,666) (19,553) 

Net (increase)/decrease in loans and advances 

 
(810,298) (1,402,571) (810,298) (1,402,571) 

Net (increase)/decrease in placements with and 
withdrawals from other financial institutions 

 
(43,402) (226,918) (32,875) (373,711) 

Net increase/(decrease) in deposits 

 
549,672  994,429  549,428  980,560  

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating 
activities 4.1 (214,612) (556,493) (212,163) (717,745) 

   
 

  
 Cash flows from investing activities 

 
  

 
  

 Net (increase)/decrease in investment securities -  (3,592) -  (3,592) 

Payments for plant, equipment and intangible assets (23,831) (10,319) (23,821) (10,300) 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 150  8,492  143  8,446  

Proceeds from sale of discontinued operation 2.4 -  3,250  -  -  

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (23,681) (2,169) (23,678) (5,446) 

   
 

  
 Cash flows from financing activities 

 
  

 
  

 Proceeds from/(repayments to) borrowings 

 
298,422  606,374  290,956  773,187  

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 298,422  606,374  290,956  773,187  

   
 

  
 Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 

 
60,129  47,712  55,115  49,996  

Cash at the beginning of the year 

 
144,781  97,069  136,465  86,469  

Cash at the end of the year 4.1 204,910  144,781  191,580  136,465  

 
 
The statements of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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1. Basis of preparation 
 

1.1 Corporate information 
 
The financial report of Credit Union Australia Ltd (the Company/CUA/Credit Union/Parent) and its 
consolidated entities (the Group) for the year ended 30 June 2016 was authorised for issue in accordance 
with a resolution of the Directors on 24 August 2016. 
 
Credit Union Australia Ltd is a for profit company incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 
 
The controlling entity in the Group is Credit Union Australia Ltd.  The registered office and principal place of 
business is: 
 
Credit Union Australia Ltd 
Level 23 
145 Ann Street 
Brisbane QLD 4000 
 
 

1.2 Basis of accounting 
 
(a) Basis of preparation 
 
The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
The financial report has been prepared on an historical cost basis, except for derivative financial instruments, 
financial assets available for sale, freehold land and buildings and financial assets classified as ‘fair value 
through profit or loss’ and ‘available for sale’ which are carried at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars ($’000) unless otherwise stated under the option available to the Company under ASIC Corporations 
Instrument 2016/191.  The Company is an entity to which the Corporations Instrument applies. 
 
(b) Statement of compliance 
 
The financial report complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) which are applicable to 
the Group as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 
 
 

1.3 Significant accounting judgements and estimates 
 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies management has used its judgements and made 
estimates in determining the amounts recognised in the financial statements.  The most significant use of 
judgements and estimates has been applied to the following areas. Refer to the respective notes for additional 
details. 
 

 
Reference  

Impairment of loans and advances, and other financial assets Note 3.2 and Note 4.2 

Outstanding insurance claims liabilities Note 6.1 and Note 6.2 

Useful life of major banking infrastructure software Note 7.2 

Fair value of financial instruments Note 7.7 
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2. Financial performance 
 

2.1 Income 

 
Consolidated Parent 

 
2016 2015 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Net interest income   
 

  
 Interest income   

 
  

      Loans and advances 479,756  472,453  479,756  472,453  

     Other financial assets 40,308  40,373  40,308  40,373  

 
520,064  512,826  520,064  512,826  

Interest expense   
 

  
      Deposits (164,719) (187,548) (164,719) (187,596) 

     Borrowings (104,576) (103,331) (104,851) (103,715) 

     Other (18,000) (10,847) (18,051) (10,963) 

 
(287,295) (301,726) (287,621) (302,274) 

 
        

Total net interest income 232,769  211,100  232,443  210,552  

 
  

 
  

 Other operating income   
 

  
 Fee and commission revenue 32,164  32,768  35,169  35,463  

Fee and commission expense (22,878) (23,362) (20,334) (20,019) 

Net fee and commission income 9,286  9,406  14,835  15,444  

 
  

 
  

 Dividends revenue 2,171  1,981  5,671  6,281  

Net gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 49  643  43  643  

Net gain/(loss) on derivative financial instruments (67) 37  (67) 37  
Net gain/(loss) on financial assets designated at fair 
value through profit or loss (370) (13) -  -  

Other 1,691  4,175  4,630  7,936  

 
        

Total other operating income 12,760  16,229  25,112  30,341  

 

Recognition and measurement 
 
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and 
the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before 
revenue is recognised.  
 
Interest income and expense 
 
Interest income and expense is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest rate method. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected 
life of the financial assets or financial liabilities to which they relate. 
 
Fee and commission revenue and expense 
 
Fee and commission revenue are brought to account on an accrual basis over the period that they cover once 
a right to receive consideration has been attained. Financial service fees are recognised as and when the 
service is provided. 
 
Fee and commission expense includes ATM fees, card and transaction fees. 
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2.2 Expenses 
 

 

Consolidated Parent 

 
2016 2015 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Personnel   
 

  
      Salaries, wages and other personnel costs (98,373) (93,671) (94,521) (90,065) 

     

Amortisation   
 

  
      Amortisation of major banking infrastructure  

     software (5,607) (6,425) (5,607) (6,425) 

     Amortisation of other computer software (1,589) (1,078) (1,586) (1,076) 

 
(7,196) (7,503) (7,193) (7,501) 

Other expenses   
 

  
      Advertising (7,855) (8,981) (7,438) (8,695) 

     Professional services (10,018) (9,075) (9,929) (9,019) 

 
(17,873) (18,056) (17,367) (17,714) 

 
 

2.3 Income tax 
 

 

The components of income tax expense are: 
 Consolidated Parent 

 
2016 2015 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Income tax expense is attributable to:   
 

  
 Profit from continuing operations 20,816  18,719  19,893  16,871  

Profit from discontinued operation -  806  -  -  

 20,816  19,525  19,893  16,871  

   
 

  
 Current tax   

 
  

    Current income tax 22,234  17,326  20,931  15,056  
   Adjustments in respect of current income tax of  
   previous year (2,200) (759) (1,027) (759) 

Deferred tax   
 

  
    Relating to origination and reversal of temporary  

   differences 782  2,958  (11) 2,574  

 20,816  19,525  19,893  16,871  

   
 

  
 Deferred income tax expense included in income tax 

expense comprises:   
 

  
    Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax assets (491) 56  (1,284) (324) 

   (Decrease)/increase in deferred tax liabilities 1,273  2,902  1,273  2,898  

 782  2,958  (11) 2,574  
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2.3   Income tax (continued) 
 
 
A reconciliation between the tax expense and the accounting profit before income tax multiplied by the 
Group's applicable income tax rate is as follows: 

 Consolidated Parent 

 2016 2015 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Accounting profit before tax from continuing 
operations 72,480  65,653  72,920  65,661  

Profit before tax from a discontinued operation -  2,686  -  -  

Accounting profit before income tax 72,480  68,339  72,920  65,661  

At Australia's statutory income tax rate of 30% 
(2015: 30%) 21,744  20,502  21,876  19,698  

Adjust for tax effect of:   
 

  
    Non-deductible expenses 73  60  68  52  

   Fully franked dividends received (651) (594) (1,701) (1,884) 

   Under/(over) provision in prior year (350) (443) (350) (995) 

Income tax expense 20,816  19,525  19,893  16,871  

         
Deferred income tax related to items charged or 
credited to other comprehensive income during the 
year is as follows:    

 
  

    Net gain/(loss) on available for sale financial assets -  5,836  -  5,836  

   Net gain/(loss) on cash flow hedges 2,781  (5,840) 2,781  (5,840) 

 2,781  (4) 2,781  (4) 

 
 
Deferred income tax recorded on the balance sheet relates to the following: 

 

 
Consolidated Parent 

 2016 2015 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Deferred tax assets comprise temporary differences 
attributable to:   

 
  

    Provision for impairment of loans and advances 5,553  5,404  5,553  5,404  

   Employee benefits 4,486  4,131  4,486  4,131  

   Provisions and accruals 3,158  2,536  2,999  2,378  

   Derivative financial instruments 6,023  8,745  6,023  8,783  

   Deferred acquisition costs 6  822  -  -  

   Other 152  30  544  406  

Total deferred tax assets 19,378  21,668  19,605  21,102  

   
 

  
 Deferred tax liabilities comprise temporary 

differences attributable to:   
 

  
    Plant and equipment and intangible assets 10,095  8,587  10,095  8,587  

   Financial assets - available for sale 5,836  5,836  5,836  5,836  

   Securitisation setup costs 1,246  1,481  1,246  1,481  

Total deferred tax liabilities 17,177  15,904  17,177  15,904  

         

Net deferred tax assets 2,201  5,764  2,428  5,198  
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2.3   Income tax (continued) 
 

 
Consolidated Parent 

 2016 2015 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset 
has been recognised 895  893  -  -  

Potential tax benefit @ 30% 269  268  -  -  

 
 
All unused tax losses were incurred by Credicorp Finance Pty Ltd, an Australian entity that is not part of a tax 
consolidated group. 
 

 

 
Consolidated Parent 

 2016 2015 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Franking account balance 240,840  224,743  237,266  219,162  

 
 
 
The ability to use these franking credits is restricted by the Constitution of CUA which does not permit the 
payment of dividends on any member shares currently on issue. 
 
Recognition and measurement 
 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent 
that it relates to items recognised directly in members’ funds or in other comprehensive income. 
 
Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and 
any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. 
 
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. No deferred income tax will be recognised 
from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business combination, where there is no effect 
on accounting or taxable profit or loss. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be 
used. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 
 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent that it 
has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. 
 
 

2.4 After tax profit from discontinued operation 
 
At 30 June 2015, the after tax profit for the year from discontinued operation was $1.880 million resulting 
from a net gain on the sale of the financial planning business of its subsidiary CUA Financial Planning Pty Ltd.  
Consideration received for the sale of the financial planning business was $3.250 million. 
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3. Loans and advances 
 

3.1 Loans and advances 
 
 

 
Consolidated Parent 

 
2016 2015 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Term loans 11,052,769  10,240,663  11,052,769  10,240,653  

Overdrafts 135,681  148,801  135,681  148,801  

Gross loans and advances 11,188,450  10,389,464  11,188,450  10,389,454  

Provision for impairment (7,858) (7,369) (7,858) (7,359) 

Net deferred origination cost and fee revenue 12,483  8,536  12,483  8,536  

Net loans and advances 11,193,075  10,390,631  11,193,075  10,390,631  

 
 
Recognition and measurement 
 
Loans and advances are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that are not 
quoted in an active market. They are not entered into with the intention of immediate or short-term resale.  
Loans and advances are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs, and 
subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Losses arising from 
impairment are recognised in the income statement in ‘impairment of loans and advances’. 
 
 

3.2 Impairment of loans and advances 
 

 
Consolidated Parent 

 
2016 2015 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Specific provision       

Opening balance 548  950  538  940  

Charge to income statement 4,226  2,631  4,226  2,632  

Bad debts written off (3,737) (3,033) (3,727) (3,034) 

Closing balance 1,037  548  1,037  538  

 
  

 
  

 Collective provision   
 

  
 Opening balance 6,821  6,416  6,821  6,416  

Charge to income statement - 405  - 405  

Closing balance 6,821  6,821  6,821  6,821  

 
  

 
  

 Total provision for impairment 7,858  7,369  7,858  7,359  

     

Impairment charge (4,226) (3,036) (4,226) (3,036) 

Bad debts recovered 736  977  736  977  

Total impairment of loans and advances (3,490) (2,059) (3,490) (2,059) 
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3.2   Provision for impairment (continued) 
 
Recognition and measurement 
 
All loans are subject to continuous management review to assess whether there is any objective evidence that 
any specific loan or group of loans is impaired.  
 
Specific provisions for impairment losses are measured as the difference between the loan’s carrying amount 
and the value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) 
discounted at the loan’s original effective interest rate. Short term balances are not discounted. Bad debts are 
written off when identified. If a specific provision for impairment has been recognised in relation to a loan, 
write offs for bad debts are made against the provision. If no provision for impairment has previously been 
recognised, write offs for bad debts are recognised as expenses directly in the income statement. 
 
The collective provision is calculated for the credit risk inherent within the loan portfolio. The collective 
provision applies a loss rate approach that uses historical loss experience to calculate incurred but not 
reported losses on the performing portfolio.  The loss rates are based on the arrears severity of the loans, and 
other default indicators. 
 
Use of judgements and estimates 
 
The Group reviews individually significant loans and advances at each reporting date to assess whether an 
impairment loss should be recorded in the income statement. Judgement by management is required in the 
estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the impairment loss. In estimating 
these cash flows, the Group makes judgements about the borrower’s financial situation and the net realisable 
value of collateral. These estimates are based on assumptions about a number of factors and actual results 
may differ, resulting in future changes to the allowance.  
 
Loans and advances that have been assessed individually and found not to be impaired, and all individually 
insignificant loans and advances are then assessed collectively, in groups of assets with similar risk 
characteristics, to determine whether provision should be made due to incurred loss events for which there is 
objective evidence but whose effects are not yet evident. The collective assessment takes account of data 
from the loan portfolio such as credit quality, levels of arrears, historical performance and economic outlook. 
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4. Funding and liquidity 
 

4.1 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
 

 
Consolidated Parent 

 
2016 2015 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Cash on hand 4,170  4,789  4,170  4,789  
Deposits on call due from Authorised Deposit-
taking Institutions 200,740  139,992  187,410  131,676  

 
204,910  144,781  191,580  136,465  

 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include restricted balances of $80.817 million (2015: $84.549 million) in the Parent 
which represents deposits held in securitisation trust collection accounts which are not available to the Group. 
 
Recognition and measurement 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include notes and coins on hand, unrestricted balances held with the Reserve Bank 
of Australia and cash on deposits and call accounts with Authorised Deposit-taking Institutions (ADIs). 
 
Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the balance sheet. Interest is brought to account 
using the effective interest rate method. 
 
Notes to the statements of cash flows 
 
Reconciliation of profit for the year to net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities: 
 

 
Consolidated Parent 

 
2016 2015 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Profit after tax from continuing operations 51,664  46,934  53,027  48,790  

Profit after tax from discontinued operation -  1,880  -  -  

 51,664  48,814  53,027  48,790  

Adjustments for:   
 

  
 Depreciation and amortisation 14,977  15,875  14,971  15,867  

Impairment of loans and advances 4,226  3,036  4,226  3,036  

Derivative financial instruments (unrealised) (2,730) 6,604  (2,730) 6,604  
(Gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and 
equipment (49) (647) (44) (663) 

(Gain)/loss on sale of discontinued operation -  (2,686) -  -  

Other non-cash items 5,452  3,241  5,083  3,241  

Changes in:   
 

  
 (Increase)/decrease loans and advances (810,298) (1,402,571) (810,298) (1,402,571) 

(Increase)/decrease financial assets (43,402) (226,918) (32,875) (373,711) 

(Increase)/decrease deferred tax assets 3,562  (2,934) 2,770  (3,318) 

(Increase)/decrease other assets (840) 1,113  (1,303) (328) 

Increase/(decrease) deposits 549,672  994,429  549,428  980,560  

Increase/(decrease) insurance policy liabilities 9,637  2,973  -  -  

Increase/(decrease) income tax payable 3,616  (4,127) 5,238  (5,257) 

Increase/(decrease) provisions 279  (113) 279  (113) 

Increase/(decrease) other liabilities (378) 7,418  65  10,118  

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (214,612) (556,493) (212,163) (717,745) 
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4.2 Financial assets 
 

 
Consolidated Parent 

 
2016 2015 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Fair value through profit or loss   
 

  
 Term deposits 30,017  29,440  -  -  

Floating rate notes  24,544  23,771  -  -  

Mortgage-backed securities 14,632  14,435  -  -  

 
69,193  67,646  -  -  

 
  

 
  

 Held to maturity   
 

  
 Deposits with Authorised Deposit-taking 

Institutions 442,192  670,274  442,192  670,274  

Floating rate notes 853,509  584,125  853,509  584,125  

Mortgage-backed securities -  -  649,827  658,053  

 
1,295,701  1,254,399  1,945,528  1,912,452  

 
  

 
  

 Available for sale       

Shares in unlisted entities 37,030  37,030  37,030  37,030  

 
 
 
There have been no reclassification or derecognition of financial assets during the year. 
 
Recognition and measurement 

 
Fair value through profit or loss 
 
Financial assets in this category relate to investments backing insurance liabilities (refer to Note 6 for further 
details). This group of financial assets is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis where 
related liabilities are also managed on this basis. Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from 
changes in the fair value of these assets are included in the income statement in the period in which they 
arise. Interest earned whilst holding these financial assets is reported as interest income using the effective 
interest rate method. 
 
Held to maturity 
 
Financial assets classified as held to maturity represent selected notes and deposits with ADIs and residential 
mortgage-backed securities and are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.  
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on the issue and costs that are 
an integral part of the effective interest rate.  Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when 
the financial assets are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process. 
 
Available for sale 
 
Financial assets classified as available for sale (AFS) represent shares in non-controlled unlisted companies.   
 
Gains and losses on AFS investments are recognised in members’ funds as an available for sale reserve until 
the investment is sold, collected or otherwise disposed of, or until the investment is determined to be 
impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in members’ funds is included in the 
income statement. 
 
AFS investments are measured at fair value on initial recognition and subsequent measurement when they 
can be estimated reliably. Where their value cannot be measured reliably, the assets are measured at the 
carrying amount determined at the last date on which the fair value could be determined reliably, subject to 
impairment testing. 
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4.2   Financial assets (continued) 
 
Recognition and measurement (continued) 
 
Impairment of financial assets  
 
The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a 
group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired 
if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred since the 
initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence 
of impairment may include indications that the counterparties or borrowers or a group of counterparties or 
borrowers is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal 
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable 
data indicating that there is a measureable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in 
arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 
 
If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is replaced with a 
new one due to financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether the financial 
asset should be derecognised. If the cash flows of the renegotiated asset are substantially different, then the 
contractual rights to cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the 
original financial asset is derecognised and the new financial asset is recognised at fair value. The impairment 
loss before an expected restructuring is measured as follow: 
 

• If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the estimated cash 
flow arising from the modified financial asset are included in the measurement of the existing asset based 
on their expected timing and amounts discounted at the original effective interest rate of the existing 
financial asset. 

 

• If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected fair value 
of the new asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset at the time of its 
derecognition. This amount is discounted from the expected date of derecognition to the reporting date 
using the original effective interest rate of the existing financial asset. 

 
 

4.3 Deposits 
 

 
Consolidated Parent 

 
2016 2015 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Members' shares 3,495  3,580  3,495  3,580  

Members' call deposits 4,916,551  4,343,170  4,916,526  4,343,389  

Members' term deposits 3,407,159  3,430,783  3,407,159  3,430,783  

 
8,327,205  7,777,533  8,327,180  7,777,752  

 
There is no concentration of customer or industry groups, which represent 10% or more of total liabilities.  
 
 
Recognition and measurement 
 
All deposits and borrowings are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received 
net of direct incremental issue costs associated with the borrowings. After initial recognition, interest bearing 
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 
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4.4 Borrowings 
 

 
Consolidated Parent 

 
2016 2015 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Securitisation trust borrowings  991,606  1,651,591  1,641,434  2,309,645  

Securitisation warehouse borrowings  855,602  222,375  855,602  222,375  

Term borrowings 1,694,662  1,368,026  1,707,951  1,380,555  

 
3,541,870  3,241,992  4,204,987  3,912,575  

 
For recognition and measurement details, refer to Note 4.3. 
 
 

4.5 Standby borrowing facilities 
 
In the normal course of business CUA enters into various types of contracts which give rise to the following 
standby and overdraft facilities: 
 

 
Consolidated Parent 

 
2016 2015 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

(i) Overdraft   
 

  
           Approved limit 10,000  10,000  10,000  10,000  

          Amount utilised -  -  -  -  

(ii) Waratah Finance Pty Ltd   
 

  
           Approved limit 561,600  383,000  561,600  383,000  

          Amount utilised 460,320  183,725  460,320  183,725  

(iii) Westpac Banking Corporation   
 

  
           Approved limit 400,000  385,000  400,000  385,000  

          Amount utilised 392,498  37,848  392,498  37,848  

(iv) Reserve Bank Australia (internal securitisation)   
 

  
           Approved limit 553,384  527,714  553,384  527,714  

          Amount utilised -  -  -  -  
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5. Risk and capital management 
 

5.1 Risk management 
 
CUA’s Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk 
management framework, including setting the risk appetite for CUA. 

The Board has established three committees to help it perform its role of overseeing risk management for 
CUA: (i) the Board Risk Committee (BRC); (ii) the Board Audit Committee (BAC); and (iii) the Board 
Remuneration Committee (BRem), each responsible for overseeing management of specific categories of 
risks for the Group. The BAC is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both 
regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to 
the BAC. 

CUA has established two key management committees for monitoring risk across the Group and report 
material risks upwards to enable the Board to meet its responsibilities: (i) Enterprise Risk Committee (ERCO), 
responsible for the group’s enterprise-wide risk management framework; and (ii) Assets and Liability 
Committee (ALCO), responsible for capital and balance sheet risk including treasury credit, liquidity and 
market risk.  

CUA applies the Three Lines of Defence (3LOD) model that articulates our key layers of risk management. The 
Second Line of Defence being the risk management function, headed by the Chief Risk Officer, which 
contributes toward the progressive development of the Group’s risk management framework. The function 
also provides management and the Board with risk reporting and maintains the regulatory compliance 
framework in line with regulator expectations. 

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to 
set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. The risk management 
policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. 
The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and 
constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 

Details on the Group’s approach to managing insurance risk are contained in Note 6.3. Details on the Group’s 
approach to managing financial risks are outlined below. 
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5.1   Risk management (continued) 
 
(a) Market risk and hedging policy  
 
The Group is not materially exposed to currency risk or equity risk. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk, 
which is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will fluctuate as a result of changes in the market interest 
rate on classes of financial assets and financial liabilities. These financial assets and financial liabilities are 
included at carrying amount and categorised by contractual repricing dates. 
 
 
 

Consolidated At call/ 
variable 

Fixed interest rate maturing Non  
interest  
bearing 

Total 

Repricing period at 30 June 2016 Within 1 
year 

1 to 5 
years 

Over 5 
years 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Assets             

Cash and cash equivalents 200,740  -  -  -  4,170  204,910  
Financial assets - fair value through 
profit or loss -  69,193  -  -  -  69,193  

Financial assets - held to maturity -  1,295,701  -  -  -  1,295,701  

Loans and advances (Gross) 7,008,543  1,753,334  2,265,247  161,326  -  11,188,450  

Financial assets - available for sale -  -  -  -  37,030  37,030  

 
7,209,283  3,118,228  2,265,247  161,326  41,200  12,795,284  

 
            

Liabilities             

Deposits 4,920,046  3,019,511  387,648  -  -  8,327,205  

Derivative financial instruments -  21,281  -  -  -  21,281  

Borrowings 1,847,208  1,691,662  3,000  -  -  3,541,870  

Commitments (Note 7.9) 523,716  -  -  -  62,913  586,629  

 
7,290,970  4,732,454  390,648  -  62,913  12,476,985  

       

       Consolidated At call/ 
variable 

Fixed interest rate maturing Non  
interest  
bearing 

Total 

Repricing period at 30 June 2015 Within 1 
year 

1 to 5  
years 

Over 5 
years 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Assets 
      Cash and cash equivalents 139,992  -  -  -  4,789  144,781  

Financial assets - fair value through 
profit or loss -  67,646  -  -  -  67,646  

Financial assets - held to maturity -  1,254,399  -  -  -  1,254,399  

Derivative financial instruments -  105  -  -  -  105  

Loans and advances (Gross) 5,945,314  802,728  3,518,675  122,747  -  10,389,464  

Financial assets - available for sale -  -  -  -  37,030  37,030  

 
6,085,306  2,124,878  3,518,675  122,747  41,819  11,893,425  

       Liabilities 
      Deposits 4,346,750  3,204,412  226,371  -  -  7,777,533  

Derivative financial instruments - 30,604 - - - 30,604 

Borrowings 1,873,966  1,364,961  3,065  -  -  3,241,992  

Commitments (Note 7.9) 558,666  -  -  -  74,126  632,792  

 
6,779,382  4,599,977  229,436  -  74,126  11,682,921  
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5.1   Risk management (continued) 
 
(a)  Market risk and hedging policy (continued) 

 
 

Parent At call/ 
variable 

Fixed interest rate maturing Non  
interest  
bearing 

Total 

Repricing period at 30 June 2016 Within 1 
year 

1 to 5 
years 

Over 5 
years 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Assets             

Cash and cash equivalents 187,410  -  -  -  4,170  191,580  

Financial assets - held to maturity -  1,945,528  -  -  -  1,945,528  

Loans and advances (Gross) 7,008,543  1,753,334  2,265,247  161,326  -  11,188,450  

Financial assets - available for sale -  -  -  -  37,030  37,030  

 
7,195,953  3,698,862  2,265,247  161,326  41,200  13,362,588  

 
            

Liabilities             

Deposits 4,920,021  3,019,511  387,648  -  -  8,327,180  

Derivative financial instruments - 21,281 - - - 21,281 

Borrowings 2,497,035  1,704,952  3,000  -  -  4,204,987  

Commitments (Note 7.9) 523,716  -  -  -  62,913  586,629  

 
7,940,772  4,745,744  390,648  -  62,913  13,140,077  

       

       Parent At call/ 
variable 

Fixed interest rate maturing Non  
interest  
bearing 

Total 

Repricing period at 30 June 2015 Within 1 
year 

1 to 5  
years 

Over 5 
years 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Assets 
      Cash and cash equivalents 131,676  -  -  -  4,789  136,465  

Financial assets - held to maturity -  1,912,452  -  -  -  1,912,452  

Derivative financial instruments -  105  -  -  -  105  

Loans and advances (Gross) 5,945,304  802,728  3,518,675  122,747  -  10,389,454  

Financial assets - available for sale -  -  -  -  37,030  37,030  

 
6,076,980  2,715,285  3,518,675  122,747  41,819  12,475,506  

       Liabilities 
      Deposits 4,346,969  3,204,412  226,371  -  -  7,777,752  

Derivative financial instruments - 30,604 - - - 30,604 

Borrowings 1,873,966  2,035,543  3,066  -  -  3,912,575  

Commitments (Note 7.9) 558,666  -  -  -  74,126  632,792  

 
6,779,601  5,270,559  229,437  -  74,126  12,353,723  
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5.1   Risk management (continued) 
 
(a)  Market risk and hedging policy (continued) 
 
Value at Risk (VaR) 
 
CUA uses the Value at Risk (VaR) methodology for quantifying interest rate risk in the banking book.  VaR 
measures the theoretical loss in the economic value of the balance sheet based on historical movements in 
interest rates. The VaR Model uses the variance/covariance approach with underlying assumptions of the 
model including a 20 day (2015: 20 day) holding period at a 99% (2015: 99%) confidence level for a 1,500 day 
(2015: 250 day) observation period. 
 
The policy of the Group is to set a maximum VaR as a percentage of its equity that is acceptable to the Board 
given its risk appetite and objectives.  Hedges assist in maintaining the VaR within acceptable limits as set by 
the Board.  The VaR has remained within the limits approved by the Board through the year. 
 
The below table represents the average, maximum and minimum VaR as a percentage of equity as measured 
at the end of each month over the financial year.  During the year CUA transitioned to a new methodology for 
calculating VaR over a longer observation period that better aligns with industry practice.  The previous 
methodology considered historical interest rate movements over a 250 day observation period.  This was the 
main cause of the uplift in VaR from financial year 2015 to financial year 2016.  Other factors contributing to 
the increase included a more granular level of calculation based on distinct product characteristics, such as 
prepayment speeds. 
 

  2016 2015 

 
$’000 % $’000 % 

Average 12,846  1.55% 3,190  0.42% 

Maximum 13,925  1.69% 4,460  0.60% 

Minimum 11,296  1.41% 2,160  0.29% 

 
 
Interest rate swap contracts 
 
CUA is exposed to interest rate risk arising from changes in market interest rates.  As part of its financial risk 
management, CUA partakes in Pay Fixed Receive Floating Swaps to hedge the interest rate risk associated 
with offering longer term fixed rate loans funded by shorter term liabilities.  In transacting the swaps, 
movements in the shorter term funding are offset with the floating leg of the swap. 
 
The table below shows the fair values of derivative financial instruments, recorded as assets or liabilities, 
together with their notional amounts.  The notional amount, recorded gross, is the amount of a derivative’s 
underlying asset, reference rate or index and is the basis upon which changes in the value of derivatives are 
measured.  The notional amounts indicate the volume of transactions outstanding at the year end and are not 
indicative of either the market risk or the credit risk. 

 
Assets Liabilities 

Notional 
amount Assets Liabilities 

Notional 
amount 

 
2016 2016 2016 2015 2015 2015 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Derivatives used as 
cash flow hedges       

   Interest rate swaps -  21,281  2,260,500  105  30,604  2,470,000  

 
The Group’s exposure under derivative contracts is closely monitored as part of the overall management of 
the Group’s market risk. 
 
Recognition and measurement 
 
Interest rate swaps are initially recognised at fair value on the date the contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured at fair value.  
 
For interest rate swaps which do not qualify for hedge accounting, changes in fair value are recorded in ‘net 
gain or loss on derivatives at fair value through profit or loss.  Interest earned or incurred is accrued in interest 
income or expense respectively, according to the terms of the contract. 
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5.1   Risk management (continued) 
 
(a) Market risk and hedging policy (continued) 
 
Hedge accounting 
 
For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure 
to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or 
liability or a highly probable forecast transaction.   
 
At inception of the hedge relationship, the Group formally documents the relationship between the hedged 
item and the hedging instrument, including the nature of the risk, the objective and strategy for undertaking 
the hedge and the method that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. 
 
Also at inception of the hedge relationship, a formal assessment is undertaken to ensure that the hedging 
instrument is expected to be highly effective in offsetting the designated risk in the hedged item. Hedges are 
formally assessed each quarter. A hedge is expected to be highly effective if the changes in fair value or cash 
flows attributable to the hedged risk during the period for which the hedge is designated are expected to 
offset in a range of 80% to 125%.  
 
For designated and qualifying cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument is initially recognised directly in members’ funds in the ‘cash flow hedge reserve’. The ineffective 
portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised immediately in the income statement. 
 
When the hedged cash flow affects the income statement, the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is 
recorded in the corresponding income or expense line of the income statement.  When a hedging instrument 
expires or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss 
existing in the cash flow hedge reserve at that time remains in the reserve and is recognised when the hedged 
forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the income statement. When a forecast transaction is no 
longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in the cash flow hedge reserve is 
immediately transferred to the income statement. 
 
The net gain/(loss) on interest rate swaps through the income statement during the year was as follows: 
 

 

2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 

Net gain/(loss) on derivatives reclassified through profit or loss (65) 67  

Net gain/(loss) on ineffective hedges (2) (30) 

Net gain/(loss) on derivatives at fair value through profit or loss (67) 37  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2016 

 

Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2016 
Credit Union Australia Ltd  33 

 

5.1   Risk management (continued) 
 
(b) Credit risk 
 
All loans are subject to continuous management review to assess whether there is any objective evidence that 
any loan or group of loans is impaired. The Group sets aside provisions for impairment of loans in accordance 
with its internal policies and procedures, which comply with AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement and APRA’s APS 220 Credit Quality. The amount recoverable from the fair value of the collateral 
held against past due or impaired loans is capped at the loan amount outstanding to the extent that CUA is 
obliged to repay the surplus to the member. 
 
The following table represents an ageing analysis of assets past due but not impaired as at 30 June: 
 
 

Consolidated and Parent 
2016 Past due but not impaired 

 
Less than 28 days 28-90 days More than 90 days Total 

Class of asset $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Loans held at amortised cost 186,848  45,154  6,173  238,175  

     Consolidated and Parent 
2015 Past due but not impaired 

 
Less than 28 days 28-90 days More than 90 days Total 

Class of asset $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Loans held at amortised cost 193,950  50,046  3,744  247,740  

 
 
Credit risk – counterparty concentration 
 
Counterparty concentration risk is monitored daily by Treasury and the Risk Management Division; and 
monthly by the ALCO.  Limits are set by the Board based on credit ratings and the duration of the investment.  
The maximum exposure is limited to the carrying amount in the balance sheet. 
 
Credit risk – loan portfolio 
 
The following table shows CUA’s Loan to Value Ratios (LVR) on its residential term loan portfolio.  Valuation 
amounts used in these calculations are based on the security value taken at the time the loans were 
originated. 
 

 
Consolidated and Parent 

 
2016 2015 

  $'000 $'000 

LVR 0% - 60% 2,901,550  2,541,937  

LVR 60.01% - 80% 5,504,189  5,255,831  

LVR 80.01% - 90% 1,594,605  1,335,644  

LVR 90.01% - 100% 681,150  887,255  

LVR > 100% 16,299  16,560  

 
10,697,793  10,037,227  

 
 
During the year, CUA took possession of properties valued at $3.497 million (2015: $6.214 million) which were 
securing loans of $3.158 million (2015: $5.243 million). 
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5.1   Risk management (continued) 
 
(b) Credit risk (continued) 
 
Credit risk – geographical analysis 
 
CUA is of the opinion that there is no undue concentration of risk by way of geographical area or account 
holder groupings. Specific risk reports are prepared and distributed such that the business has access to 
necessary and comprehensive information.  The table below shows the geographical split of gross loans and 
advances of the Group and the Parent. 
 
 

 
2016 2015 

 
Housing loans Other loans Housing loans Other loans 

State $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Queensland 4,364,235  250,569  4,293,588  179,210  

New South Wales 3,156,150  130,249  2,915,107  98,351  

Victoria 2,342,596  83,941  2,141,491  58,044  

Western Australia 584,224  15,419  475,537  10,189  

Australian Capital Territory 138,859  4,813  123,114  3,269  

South Australia 78,251  2,363  55,440  1,145  

Tasmania 15,938  1,054  15,657  636  

Northern Territory 14,502  1,487  15,140  944  

Other 3,038  762  2,153  449  

 
10,697,793  490,657  10,037,227  352,237  

 
 
The risk of losses from loans granted is primarily reduced by the nature and quality of the security taken. That 
is, the security for all loans is fully insured. This is initially achieved on the financing of a loan, by proof of 
insurance being required before funding occurs; the borrower is then required to maintain this insurance. In 
addition, Innocent Mortgagee Coverage, which provides coverage in the event of loss if the borrower does 
not have insurance in place, has been taken out by CUA. The maximum exposure is no different to the 
carrying values of the loans. 
 
Credit quality by class of financial assets 
 
CUA manages the credit quality of financial assets using internal credit ratings. All loans and advances are 
reviewed and graded according to the anticipated level of credit risk and the following classifications have 
been adopted: 
 
‘Restructured loans’ are loans and other similar facilities where the original contractual terms have been 
modified to provide for concessions of interest, principal or repayment for reasons related to financial 
difficulties of the member or group of members. These loans are classified as “neither past due nor impaired” 
and have been graded further into the following three categories; ‘High grade’ loans which are investment 
grade, ‘Standard grade’ loans which represent the default position and ‘Sub-standard grade’ loans which are 
non-performing. 
 
‘Past due but not impaired loans’ are loans for which contractual interest or principal payments are past due 
but the Group believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of security or collateral 
available and/or the stage of collection of amounts owed to the Group. 
  
‘Impaired loans’ are loans and advances where the full recovery of outstanding principal and interest is 
considered doubtful. 
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5.1   Risk management (continued) 
 
(b) Credit risk (continued) 
 
Credit quality by class of financial assets (continued) 
 
The table below shows the credit quality by class of asset for all financial assets exposed to credit risk, based 
on CUA's internal credit rating system.  The amounts are presented gross of provisions for impairment. 
 
 

Consolidated - 2016 Neither past due nor impaired Past due 
but not 

impaired 
Impaired Total  High 

grade 
Standard 

grade 
Sub-standard 

grade 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Assets             

Cash and cash equivalents 204,910  -  -  -  -  204,910  
Financial assets - fair value through 
profit or loss 69,193  -  -  -  -  69,193  

Financial assets - held to maturity 1,295,701  -  -  -  -  1,295,701  

Loans and advances (Gross):             

Residential mortgages -  10,076,127  340,501  219,374  61,791  10,697,793  

Commercial lending -  32,010  501  533  436  33,480  

Personal lending -  414,683  20,720  18,268  3,506  457,177  

 1,569,804  10,522,820  361,722  238,175  65,733  12,758,254  

 
      

 
      Consolidated - 2015 Neither past due nor impaired Past due 

but not 
impaired 

Impaired Total 

 
High 
grade 

Standard 
grade 

Sub-standard 
grade 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Assets 

      Cash and cash equivalents 144,781  -  -  -  -  144,781  
Financial assets - fair value through 
profit or loss 67,646  -  -  -  -  67,646  

Financial assets - held to maturity 1,254,399  -  -  -  -  1,254,399  

Derivative financial instruments 105  -  -  -  -  105  

Loans and advances (Gross):       
Residential mortgages -  9,443,686  314,048  227,611  51,882  10,037,227  

Commercial lending -  38,276  766  1,068  -  40,110  

Personal lending -  274,650  14,495  19,061  3,921  312,127  

 1,466,931  9,756,612  329,309  247,740  55,803  11,856,395  
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5.1   Risk management (continued) 
 
(b) Credit risk (continued) 
 
Credit quality by class of financial assets (continued) 
 
 

Parent - 2016 Neither past due nor impaired Past due 
but not 

impaired 
Impaired Total  High 

grade 
Standard 

grade 
Sub-standard 

grade 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Assets             

Cash and cash equivalents 191,580  -  -  -  -  191,580  

Financial assets - held to maturity 1,945,528  -  -  -  -  1,945,528  

Loans and advances (Gross):             

Residential mortgages -  10,076,127  340,501  219,374  61,791  10,697,793  

Commercial lending -  32,010  501  533  436  33,480  

Personal lending -  414,683  20,720  18,268  3,506  457,177  

 
2,137,108  10,522,820  361,722  238,175  65,733  13,325,558  

       

       Parent - 2015 Neither past due nor impaired Past due 
but not 

impaired 
Impaired Total  High 

grade 
Standard 

grade 
Sub-standard 

grade 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Assets 
      Cash and cash equivalents 136,465  -  -  -  -  136,465  

Financial assets - held to maturity 1,912,452  -  -  -  -  1,912,452  

Derivative financial instruments 105  -  -  -  -  105  

Loans and advances (Gross):       

Residential mortgages -  9,443,686  314,048  227,611  51,882  10,037,227  

Commercial lending -  38,276  766  1,068  -  40,110  

Personal lending -  274,640  14,495  19,061  3,921  312,117  

 
2,049,022  9,756,602  329,309  247,740  55,803  12,438,476  

 
 
(c) Liquidity risk  
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due, caused by a 
mismatch in cash flows.  The primary liquidity objective is to fund in a way that will facilitate growth in core 
business under a wide range of market conditions. 
 
The ALCO maintains oversight of asset and liability management including liquidity management.  The 
Group’s liquidity policies are approved by the Board on the recommendation of the ALCO. Policies and limits 
are consistent with the requirements of APRA’s APS 210 Liquidity. During the past and the previous year the 
Credit Union did not breach these requirements. 
 
Funding and liquidity management is performed centrally within the Treasury Department, with oversight 
from the Risk Division, ALCO and Board. Treasury manages liquidity on a daily basis and Risk provides daily 
information to the Chief Financial Officer and Chief Risk Officer, and monthly information to both ALCO and 
the Board. To facilitate the liquidity management process, investments are placed with ADIs regulated by 
APRA.  The extent to which CUA will invest its liquid investments in any one institution is based upon 
predetermined exposure limits which are supported by a risk assessment. 
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5.1   Risk management (continued) 
 
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 
The following table shows the expected cash flow liquidity analysis for different monetary liabilities held.  In 
the case of borrowings, the table shows the period in which the principal outstanding will be repaid based on 
the remaining period to the repayment date. For term borrowings, the below dissection is based upon 
contractual conditions for each borrowing being strictly complied with and is subject to change in the event 
that current repayment conditions are varied.  

 
Consolidated - 2016 

Carrying 
Amount 

Gross 
nominal 
inflow/ 

(outflow) 
Within 

1 month 
1-3  

months 
3-12 

months 
1-5  

years 
More than 5 

years 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Financial liability by type               
Non-derivative financial 
liabilities               
Members' shares (3,495) (3,495) (3,495) -  -  -  -  
Members' call deposits (4,916,551) (4,916,551) (4,916,551) -  -  -  -  
Members' term deposits (3,407,159) (3,507,958) (458,076) (653,421) (1,999,517) (396,944) -  
Borrowings (3,541,870) (3,763,222) (396,066) (528,636) (945,845) (987,921) (904,754) 

Total non-derivative 
financial liabilities (11,869,075) (12,191,226) (5,774,188) (1,182,057) (2,945,362) (1,384,865) (904,754) 

 
              

Derivative financial 
liabilities               
Interest rate swaps 2               
   Outflow (21,281) (21,543) (1,514) (3,449) (11,879) (4,701) - 

Total derivative financial 
liabilities (21,281) (21,543) (1,514) (3,449) (11,879) (4,701) -  

 
              

Financial asset by type 1               
Non-derivative financial 
assets               
Cash and cash equivalents 204,910  204,910  204,910  - - - - 
Financial assets - fair value 
through profit or loss 69,193  69,193  6,298  11,772  12,952  23,413  14,758  
Financial assets - held to 
maturity 1,295,701  1,295,701  133,594  407,966  199,909  554,232  - 
Loans and advances 11,193,075  11,193,075  1,221  710  5,659  298,666  10,886,819  
Financials assets – 
available for sale 37,030  37,030  - - - - 37,030  

Total non-derivative 
financial assets 12,799,909  12,799,909  346,023  420,448  218,520  876,311  10,938,607  

 

 
1 The financial assets have been presented based on the remaining contractual maturities. 
 
2 For interest rate swaps the cash flows have been estimated using forward interest rates applicable at the end of the reporting period. 
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5.1   Risk management (continued) 
 
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 
 

 
Consolidated - 2015 

Carrying 
Amount 

Gross  
nominal  
inflow/ 

(outflow) 
Within  
1 month 

1-3 
months 

3-12  
months 

1-5  
years 

More than 
5 years 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

        Financial liability by 
type 

       Non-derivative financial 
liabilities 

       Members' shares (3,580) (3,580) (3,580) -  -  -  -  
Members' call deposits (4,343,170) (4,343,170) (4,343,170) -  -  -  -  
Members' term deposits (3,430,783) (3,488,045) (363,759) (875,526) (2,005,846) (242,914) -  
Borrowings (3,241,992) (3,467,714) (163,542) (502,450) (925,712) (1,195,203) (680,807) 

Total non-derivative 
financial liabilities (11,019,525) (11,302,509) (4,874,051) (1,377,976) (2,931,558) (1,438,117) (680,807) 

        Derivative financial 
liabilities 

       Interest rate swaps 2 
          Outflow (30,604) (31,141) (1,552) (3,313) (14,841) (11,435) -  

Total derivative financial 
liabilities (30,604) (31,141) (1,552) (3,313) (14,841) (11,435) -  

        Financial asset by type  1 
       Non-derivative financial 

assets 
       Cash and cash equivalents 144,781  144,781  144,781  - - - - 

Financial assets - fair value 
through profit or loss 67,646  67,646  4,353  20,762  4,509  23,545  14,477  
Financial assets - held to 
maturity 1,254,399  1,254,399  188,258  488,412  173,621  404,108  - 
Loans and advances 10,390,631  10,390,631  869  1,437  9,122  343,604  10,035,599  
Financials assets – 
available for sale 37,030  37,030  - - - - 37,030  

Total non-derivative 
financial assets 11,894,487  11,894,487  338,261  510,611  187,252  771,257  10,087,106  

        Derivative financial 
assets 

       Interest rate swaps 2 
          Outflow (60) (60) (7) (4) (49) - - 

   Inflow 165  171  - - - 171  - 

Total derivative financial 
assets 105  111  (7) (4) (49) 171  - 

 
 
1 The financial assets have been presented based on the remaining contractual maturities. 
 
2 For interest rate swaps the cash flows have been estimated using forward interest rates applicable at the end of the reporting period. 
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5.1   Risk management (continued) 
 
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) 

 
Parent - 2016 

Carrying 
Amount 

Gross 
nominal 
inflow/ 

(outflow) 
Within 1 
month 

1-3  
months 

3-12 
months 

1-5  
years 

More than 
5 years 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 
              

Financial liability by type               
Non-derivative financial 
liabilities               
Members' shares (3,495) (3,495) (3,495) -  -  -  -  
Members' call deposits (4,916,526) (4,916,526) (4,916,526) -  -  -  -  
Members' term deposits (3,407,159) (3,507,958) (458,076) (653,421) (1,999,517) (396,944) -  
Borrowings (4,204,987) (4,463,142) (410,693) (554,787) (1,037,732) (1,057,236) (1,402,694) 

Total non-derivative 
financial liabilities (12,532,167) (12,891,121) (5,788,790) (1,208,208) (3,037,249) (1,454,180) (1,402,694) 

 
              

Derivative financial 
liabilities               
Interest rate swaps 2               
   Outflow (21,281) (21,543) (1,514) (3,449) (11,879) (4,701) -  

Total derivative financial 
liabilities (21,281) (21,543) (1,514) (3,449) (11,879) (4,701) -  

 
              

Financial asset by type 1               
Non-derivative financial 
assets               
Cash and cash equivalents 191,580  191,580  191,580  - - - - 
Financial assets - held to 
maturity 1,945,528  1,945,528  134,565  407,858  199,856  554,084  649,165  
Loans and advances 11,193,075  11,193,075  1,221  710  5,659  298,666  10,886,819  
Financials assets – 
available for sale 37,030  37,030  - - - - 37,030  

Total non-derivative 
financial assets 13,367,213  13,367,213  327,366  408,568  205,515  852,750  11,573,014  

 
 
1 The financial assets have been presented based on the remaining contractual maturities. 
 
2 For interest rate swaps the cash flows have been estimated using forward interest rates applicable at the end of the reporting period. 
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5.1   Risk management (continued) 
 
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 
 
 

 
Parent - 2015 

Carrying 
Amount 

Gross  
nominal  
inflow/ 

(outflow) 
Within 1 
month 

1-3  
months 

3-12 
months 

1-5  
years 

More than 
5 years 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Financial liability by type 
       Non-derivative financial 

liabilities 
       Members' shares (3,580) (3,580) (3,580) -  -  -  - 

Members' call deposits (4,343,389) (4,343,389) (4,343,389) -  -  -  - 
Members' term deposits (3,430,783) (3,488,045) (363,759) (875,526) (2,005,846) (242,914) -  
Borrowings (3,912,575) (4,212,627) (184,652) (536,637) (1,050,190) (1,542,629) (898,519) 

Total non-derivative 
financial liabilities (11,690,327) (12,047,641) (4,895,380) (1,412,163) (3,056,036) (1,785,543) (898,519) 

        Derivative financial 
liabilities 

       Interest rate swaps 2 
          Outflow (30,604) (31,141) (1,552) (3,313) (14,841) (11,435) -  

Total derivative financial 
liabilities (30,604) (31,141) (1,552) (3,313) (14,841) (11,435) -  

        Financial asset by type 1 
       Non-derivative financial 

assets 
       Cash and cash equivalents 136,465  136,465  136,465  - - - - 

Financial assets - held to 
maturity 1,912,452  1,912,452  189,289  488,412  173,621  404,109  657,021  
Loans and advances 10,390,631  10,390,631  869  1,437  9,122  343,604  10,035,599  
Financials assets – 
available for sale 37,030  37,030  - - - - 37,030  

Total non-derivative 
financial assets 12,476,578  12,476,578  326,623  489,849  182,743  747,713  10,729,650  

        Derivative financial 
assets 

       Interest rate swaps 2 
          Outflow (60) (60) (7) (4) (49) - - 

   Inflow 165  171  - - - 171  - 

Total derivative financial 
assets 105  111  (7) (4) (49) 171  - 

 

 
1 The financial assets have been presented based on the remaining contractual maturities. 
 
2 For interest rate swaps the cash flows have been estimated using forward interest rates applicable at the end of the reporting period. 
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5.2 Capital management 
 
Regulatory capital 
 
The Group maintains an actively managed capital base to cover risks inherent in the business.  The primary 
objectives of the Group’s capital management strategies are to ensure that the Credit Union maintains 
sufficient capital resources to support the Group’s business activities and operational requirements and to 
ensure continuous compliance with externally imposed capital ratios.  The Credit Union uses capital to 
reinvest in the business to enhance products and services supplied to the members of the Credit Union. 
 
The adequacy of the Group’s capital is monitored using, among other measures, the rules and ratios 
established by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision and adopted by APRA in supervising the Credit 
Union. During the past year and the previous year, the Credit Union has complied in full with all its externally 
imposed capital requirements. 
 
The elements of capital are analysed as follows: 
 

 
 

Qualifying capital Consolidated 

  
As at 30 June 

2016 
As at 30 June 

2015 

 
$'000 $'000 

Tier 1 Capital     

   Retained profits, including current year profits 820,371 773,617 

   Reserves 11,915 5,342 

Total Tier 1 Capital 832,286 778,959 

Regulatory adjustments     

   Intangibles (65,956) (48,430) 

   Equity investments (39,830) (39,830) 

   Other deductions (5,447) (3,989) 

Total Regulatory adjustments (111,233) (92,249) 

Net Tier 1 Capital 721,053 686,710 

   

Tier 2 Capital     

General Reserve for Credit Losses 20,176 18,247 

Net Tier 2 Capital 20,176 18,247 

   

Capital Base 741,229 704,957 

Risk Weighted Assets 5,200,360 4,896,681 

   

Risk weighted capital ratios     

Tier 1 13.86% 14.02% 

Tier 2 0.39% 0.38% 

Total capital ratio 14.25% 14.40% 
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6. Insurance business 
 

6.1 Key financial information 
 

The following table summarises the key financial information of the insurance businesses of CUA Health Ltd 
(CHL) and Credicorp Insurance Pty Ltd (CCI) which contribute to the income statement and balance sheet of 
the Group. 

 
2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 

Income statement extract   
 Net premium revenue 145,056  126,649  

Claims expense (130,003) (109,938) 

Interest revenue 2,383  2,377  

Net insurance income 17,436  19,088  

   
 Balance sheet extract   
 Assets   
    Investments backing insurance liabilities 69,193  67,646  

   Deferred acquisition costs 1,802  2,528  

   Rebate receivable from health insurance commission 3,204  2,899  

   Receivable from Risk Equalisation Trust Fund 1,310  1,255  

Liabilities   
    Unearned premiums 19,595  14,530  

   Outstanding claims liabilities 13,176  9,105  

 
The outstanding claims liabilities represent a combination of a central estimate, risk margin, allowance for 
claims handling expenses and a probability of adequacy of at least 75% (2015: 75%) for both companies. The 
risk margins are 7% (2015: 10%) and 8%-15% (2015: 20%) respectively for CHL and CCI. 
 
 

6.2 Key insurance accounting policies 
 
Premium revenue 
 
Premium revenue comprises amounts charged to policyholders and is inclusive of government rebates 
where applicable. Premium revenue is recognised from attachment date in accordance with the pattern of 
the incidence of risk expected over the term of the insurance contracts.  The portion of premium received or 
receivable not earned at reporting date is recognised on the balance sheet as unearned premiums. 
 
Claims expense 
 
Claims expense represents the charge to the income statement for the period and represents the sum of 
claims settled and claims management expenses relating to claims incurred in the period and the movement 
in the outstanding claims liabilities over the period.  
 
Interest revenue 
 
Interest revenue relates to amounts received from investments held by the insurance business. For 
recognition and measurement details, refer to Note 2.1. 
 
Investments backing insurance liabilities 
 
A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short 
term or if so designated by management. Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in 
the fair value of these assets are included in the income statement in the period in which they arise. 
 
Investment assets backing insurance liabilities are designated at fair value through profit or loss as required 
by AASB 1023 General Insurance Contracts.  
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6.2   Key insurance accounting policies (continued) 
 
Deferred acquisition costs 
 
Acquisition costs incurred in obtaining insurance contracts are deferred and recognised as assets where 
they can be reliably measured and where it is probable that they will give rise to premium revenue that will 
be recognised in the profit or loss in subsequent reporting periods. 
 
Deferred acquisition costs are amortised systematically in accordance with the expected pattern of the 
incidence of risk under the insurance contracts to which they relate. This pattern of amortisation 
corresponds to the earning pattern of the corresponding premium revenue. 
 
Rebate receivable from health insurance commission 
 
The Australian Government provides a rebate in respect of the premium paid for resident private health 
insurance.  The rebate is paid directly by the government and is recognised as a receivable when the rebate 
is due but not yet received at balance date. 
 
Net Risk Equalisation Trust Fund receivable (health insurance business) 
 
Under the provision of the private health insurance legislation, all private health insurers must participate in 
the Risk Equalisation Trust Fund. Through the Risk Equalisation Trust Fund, all private health insurers share 
the cost of proportions of the eligible claims of all persons aged 55 years and over and claims meeting the 
high cost claims criteria. 
 
The amount payable to or receivable from the Risk Equalisation Trust Fund is determined by APRA after the 
end of each quarter.  Estimated provisions for amounts payable or receivable are provided for periods of 
which determinations have not yet been made, including an estimate of risk equalisation for unpresented 
and outstanding claims. 
 
Outstanding claims liabilities 
 
The outstanding claims liabilities provide for the expected future payments in relation to claims reported 
but not yet paid or assessed and claims incurred but not yet reported with an allowance for claims handling 
expenses. The outstanding claims liabilities are measured as the central estimate of the expected future 
payments against claims incurred but not settled as at the reporting date under insurance contracts issued 
by the Group, with an additional risk margin to allow for inherent uncertainty in the central estimate.   
 
Use of judgements and estimates 
 
The estimated cost of claims includes expenses to be incurred in settling claims. The Group takes all 
reasonable steps to ensure that it has appropriate information regarding its claims exposures.  Given the 
uncertainty in establishing claims provisions it is likely that the final outcome will prove to be different from 
the original liability established. 
 
Unexpired risk liability 
 
The liability adequacy test is required to be performed to determine whether the unearned premium liability 
(premiums in advance and unclosed premium liability) is adequate to cover the present value of expected 
cash flows relating to future claims arising from rights and obligations under current insurance contracts, 
plus additional risk margin to reflect the inherent uncertainty in the central estimate. 
 
If the present value of the expected future cash flows relating to future claims plus the additional risk 
margin to reflect the inherent uncertainty in the central estimate exceeds the unearned premium liability 
less related intangible assets and related deferred acquisition costs, then the unearned premium liability is 
deemed to be deficient. Liability adequacy testing did not result in deficiency as at 30 June 2016 and          
30 June 2015. 
 
The Group applies a risk margin to achieve the same probability of adequacy for future claims as achieved by 
the estimate for the outstanding claims liabilities. 
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6.3 Insurance risk 
 
CUA Health Ltd 
 
The provision of private health insurance in Australia is governed by the Private Health Insurance Act 2007 
which is premised on the fundamental principal of community rating.  Community rating is a form of 
mandatory cross-subsidy which requires that the premium paid for a person’s chosen health insurance 
product, and the cover available under that product, are the same regardless of the health or demographic 
characteristics of the individual seeking coverage. Premiums are only allowed to vary by Risk Equalisation 
Jurisdiction (State) which is a scheme that seeks to share the risks among all registered health insurers by 
averaging out the cost of hospital treatment across the industry.  Premiums can only be changed annually and 
require the approval of the Minister for Health and products must have minimum coverage requirements.  
 
The inability to risk rate or quickly change premiums, and the highly regulated nature of private health 
insurance are all included in CHL’s risk management strategy.  This strategy has been implemented to mitigate 
CHL’s exposure to insurance risk and includes key policies and controls such as the Risk Equalisation Trust 
Fund, actuarial models used to calculate and monitor claims patterns, capital management policy, pricing 
philosophy and Risk Appetite Statement. 
 
There is concentration of private health insurance risk in the areas where CHL has a higher than average 
policy holder base, for example, Queensland.  As a result of the Community Rating Principle, CHL is unable to 
set different prices based on an individual’s age or to reflect their previous claims history.  As such, CHL is 
limited in its ability to directly mitigate these concentrations of insurance risks. 
 
Credicorp Insurance Pty Ltd   
 
General insurance contracts are defined as a contract under which CCI accepts significant insurance risk from 
another party by agreeing to compensate those insured from a specified uncertain event that adversely 
affects them. 
 
The significance of insurance risk is dependent on both the probability of an insurance event and the 
magnitude of its potential effect.  A risk management strategy has been implemented to mitigate insurance 
risk which includes the separation of duties, annual Risk Culture Assessment, Whistleblowing Program and 
education on risk accountability. 
 
CCI’s exposure to concentrations of insurance risk is mitigated by a portfolio diversified across three classes 
of business across all states of Australia.  Because of the small size of the claims, the financial impact of 
concentrations of risk is not material to the Group. 
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6.4 Capital management 
 
CUA Health Ltd 
 
The CHL’s board policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain creditor and market confidence 
and to sustain future development of the business. The CHL Board manages the capital by assessing the 
financial risks and adjusting its capital management policy and liquidity management plan in response to 
changes in these risks.  The CHL Board also manages the size of dividends to CUA. 
 
CHL is required to comply with APRA’s Solvency and Capital Adequacy Standards and submits audited 
returns at the end of each financial year. At balance date, CHL had $48.200 million (2015: $51.800 million) 
excess assets for the Quantum of Assets Test in the Capital Adequacy Standard and $5.000 million (2015: 
$4.500 million) excess qualifying assets for the Solvency Test in the Solvency Standard. There has been no 
breach of externally imposed capital requirements during the year (2015: nil). 
 
Credicorp Insurance Pty Ltd 
 
The CCI’s board policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain creditor and market confidence 
and to sustain future development of the business. The CCI Board manages the capital by assessing the 
financial and insurance risks and adjusting its target minimum capital levels in response to changes in these 
risks. The CCI Board also manages the size of dividends to the ordinary shareholder.  
 
Under the Prudential Standards for General Insurers, the minimum Prescribed Capital Amount (PCA) that can 
apply for an insurer is $5.000 million. The PCA will increase with the size of the insurer’s operations. In 
addition, Prudential Standard GPS 110 Capital Adequacy requires that insurers maintain a capital base in 
excess of its minimum capital requirement. CCI has not breached any externally imposed capital requirements 
during the year (2015: nil). 
 
CCI has set out in its Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP), a targeted minimum capital 
amount equal to the greater of $6.000 million or 150% of the sum of the prudential risk charges, calculated in 
accordance with the Prudential Standards using the Prescribed Method as outlined under GPS 110 Capital 
Adequacy. CCI has maintained target capital levels during the past and the previous financial year. Capital 
levels and the PCA coverage ratio are calculated and reported to the CCI Board on a regular basis.  
 

 
2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 

Prescribed Capital Amount per APRA 5,000  5,000  

Targeted minimum capital amount per ICAAP 6,129  6,000  

Capital base 7,539  6,861  
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7. Other notes 
 

7.1 Property, plant and equipment 
 

Consolidated Parent 

 
2016 2015 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

At cost/fair value 57,719  54,321  57,677  54,266  

Accumulated depreciation (38,589) (32,994) (38,559) (32,946) 

Total property, plant and equipment 19,130  21,327  19,118  21,320  

  All property, plant and equipment balances at 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2015 are non-current. 
 
Recognition and measurement 
 
Freehold land and buildings are measured at fair value less subsequent depreciation and impairment losses. 
The fair value measurement has been categorised as a Level 3 fair value. 
 
Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis less depreciation and impairment losses. 
 
All property, plant and equipment other than freehold land are depreciated using the straight-line method 
over their expected useful lives to the Group. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of 
either their estimated useful life or the remaining term of the lease. 
 
The estimated useful lives are as follows: 
 

Buildings 40 years 

Computer hardware 4 years 

Office furniture and equipment 3-5 years 

Leasehold improvements  3-10 years 
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7.2 Intangible assets 

Consolidated Parent 

 
2016 2015 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

At cost 90,995  69,366  90,910  69,277  

Accumulated amortisation (27,977) (20,931) (27,894) (20,847) 

Intangible assets 63,018  48,435  63,016  48,430  

Capital work in progress 2,636  6,045  2,636  6,045  

Total intangible assets 65,654  54,480  65,652  54,475  

Reconciliation of carrying amounts   
 

  
 Carrying amount at beginning of financial year 54,480  56,731  54,475  56,728  

Additions 22,075  8,226  22,075  8,222  
Transfers from capital work in progress to property, 
plant and equipment (3,705) (2,967) (3,705) (2,967) 

Disposals -  (7) -  (7) 

Amortisation (7,196) (7,503) (7,193) (7,501) 

Carrying amount at end of financial year 65,654  54,480  65,652  54,475  

 All intangible asset balances at 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2015 are non-current. 
 
During the 2016 financial year, projects relating to the Group’s new loan origination system and new credit 
card products were finalised and launched. Amounts previously carried in capital work in progress have been 
transferred to intangible assets and amortised in accordance with the accounting policy below. 
 
Recognition and measurement 
 
Intangible assets include costs of acquired or internally generated software with a finite useful life. Software is 
amortised using the straight-line method over its expected useful life to the Group. The estimated useful lives 
are as follows: 
 

Major banking infrastructure software 10 years 

Loan origination system 3-10 years 

Other computer software 3-7 years 
 
Use of judgements and estimates 
 
The Group estimates the useful life of its major banking infrastructure software to be at least 10 years based 
on the expected technical obsolescence of such assets and benchmark comparison of other similar platforms. 
However, the actual useful life may be shorter or longer than 10 years, depending on technical innovations and 
competitor actions.  As at 30 June 2016, the carrying amount of this software was $40.742 million (2015: 
$46.342 million).  If the useful life was only seven years, the carrying amount would be $34.237 million as at 
30 June 2016.  If the useful life was estimated to be 12 years, the carrying amount would be $43.281 million. 
 

7.3 Other assets 

 
Consolidated Parent 

 
2016 2015 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Deferred acquisition costs 1,802  2,528  -  -  

Rebate receivable from health insurance commission 3,204  2,899  -  -  

Receivable from Risk Equalisation Trust Fund 1,310  1,255  -  -  

Income tax receivable -  1,105  -  1,008  

Sundry debtors 3,274  2,764  1,965  1,741  

Prepayments 1,926  1,045  1,905  1,028  

 
11,516  11,596  3,870  3,777  

  
All other asset balances at 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2015 are current. 
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7.4 Other liabilities 
 

Consolidated Parent 

 
2016 2015 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Trade creditors and accruals 27,343  27,056  25,105  24,877  

Straight-line lease liability 10,144  10,309  10,144  10,309  

Unearned insurance premiums 19,595  14,530  -  -  

Outstanding insurance claims liabilities 13,176  9,105  -  -  

Income tax payable 4,770  2,259  4,230  -  

 
75,028  63,259  39,479  35,186  

  
All other liability balances at 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2015 are current. 
 

7.5 Provisions 
 

Consolidated Parent 

 
2016 2015 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Employee benefits 14,952  13,769  14,952  13,769  

Make good provision 4,049  3,687  4,049  3,687  

Other provisions -  1,042  -  1,042  

 
19,001  18,498  19,001  18,498  

     

Current 13,526  13,576  13,526  13,576  

Non-current 5,475  4,922  5,475  4,922  

 19,001  18,498  19,001  18,498  

 
 
Recognition and measurement 
 
Provisions are recognised when the group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can 
be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. Where there are a number of 
similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering 
the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect 
to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small. 
 
Provisions payable later than one year have been measured at the present value by discounting the expected 
future cash outflows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the liability.  The unwinding of the discount is recognised as financing costs. 
 
Employee benefits 
 
Employee provisions comprise liabilities for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees 
to balance date. Employee benefits have maturities of both less than one year and greater than one year and 
have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled plus related on-costs.  
 
Superannuation contributions are made by the Group to defined contribution superannuation funds and are 
charged as expenses when incurred. 
 
Make good provision 
 
CUA is required to restore the leased premises of its branches and hub offices to their original condition at the 
end of the respective lease terms. A provision has been recognised for the present value of the estimated 
expenditure required to remove any leasehold improvements. The provision is assessed at each balance date 
for new, amended and expired leases.  The estimate of the costs has been calculated using historical costs. 
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7.6 Reserves 
 

Consolidated Parent 

 
2016 2015 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

General reserve for credit losses 18,383  18,245  18,383  18,245  

Redeemed member share reserve 2,752  2,667  2,752  2,667  

Available for sale reserve 13,618  13,618  13,618  13,618  

Cash flow hedge reserve (14,045) (20,533) (14,045) (20,533) 

Business combination reserve 9,590  9,590  9,590  9,590  

 30,298  23,587  30,298  23,587  

  
Nature and purpose of reserves 
 
General reserve for credit losses 
 
CUA is required by APRA to maintain a general reserve for credit losses. The general reserve for credit losses and 
collective provision for impairment are aggregated for the purpose of reporting the general reserve for credit 
losses to APRA.  The general reserve for credit losses is calculated in accordance with APS 220. 
 
Redeemed member share reserve 
 
Under the Corporations Act 2001, redeemable preference shares (member shares) may only be redeemed out 
of the Credit Union’s profit or through the new issue of shares for the purpose of the redemption. The Credit 
Union therefore has transferred the value of member shares redeemed since 1 July 1999 (the date that the 
Corporations Act 2001 applied to the Credit Union), from retained earnings to the redeemed member share 
reserve. The value of member shares for existing members is disclosed as a liability in Note 4.3. 
 
Available for sale reserve 
 
Comprises cumulative net change in fair value of available for sale financial assets, until the assets are 
derecognised or impaired. 
 
Cash flow hedge reserve 
 
Comprises the portion of the cumulative net gain or loss on hedging instruments used in cash flow hedges that 
are determined to be an effective hedge. 
 
Business combination reserve 
 
This reserve is used to record mergers with other mutual entities. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the 
"acquired" mutual entities are recognised at their fair value at the date of the merger. The excess of the fair value 
of assets taken up over liabilities assumed is taken directly to members’ funds as a business combination reserve. 
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7.7 Fair value of financial instruments 
 
The following tables provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial assets and 
liabilities at the reporting date. 
 

 
 

Consolidated - 2016 Fair value Carrying 
amount 

 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Financial assets measured at fair value           
Financial assets - fair value through profit or loss -  69,193  -  69,193  69,193  
Financial assets - available for sale -  -  37,030  37,030  37,030  

 
          

Financial assets for which fair values are disclosed           
Loans and advances -  -  11,072,104  11,072,104  11,193,075  

 
          

Financial liabilities measured at fair value           
Derivative financial instruments -  21,281  -  21,281  21,281  

 
          

Financial liabilities for which fair values are disclosed           
Deposits -  8,302,557  -  8,302,557  8,327,205  

 

Consolidated - 2015 Fair value Carrying 
amount 

 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Financial assets measured at fair value 
 Financial assets - fair value through profit or loss -  67,646  -  67,646  67,646  

Derivative financial instruments -  105  -  105  105  
Financial assets - available for sale -  -  37,030  37,030  37,030  

 Financial assets for which fair values are disclosed 
 Loans and advances -  -  10,186,910  10,186,910  10,390,631  

 Financial liabilities measured at fair value 
 Derivative financial instruments -  30,604  -  30,604  30,604  

 Financial liabilities for which fair values are disclosed 
 Deposits -  7,726,959  -  7,726,959  7,777,533  
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7.7   Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 
 
 

Parent - 2016 Fair value Carrying  
amount 

 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Financial assets measured at fair value           
Financial assets - available for sale -  -  37,030  37,030  37,030  

 
          

Financial assets for which fair values are disclosed           
Loans and advances -  -  11,072,104  11,072,104  11,193,075  

 
          

Financial liabilities measured at fair value           
Derivative financial instruments -  21,281  -  21,281  21,281  

 
          

Financial liabilities for which fair values are disclosed           
Deposits -  8,302,532  -  8,302,532  8,327,180  

 

Parent - 2015 Fair value Carrying  
amount 

 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Financial assets measured at fair value 
 Derivative financial instruments -  105  -  105  105  

Financial assets - available for sale -  -  37,030  37,030  37,030  

 Financial assets for which fair values are disclosed 
 Loans and advances -  -  10,186,910  10,186,910  10,390,631  

 Financial liabilities measured at fair value 
 Derivative financial instruments -  30,604  -  30,604  30,604  

 Financial liabilities for which fair values are disclosed 
 Deposits -  7,727,178  -  7,727,178  7,777,752  

 
 
 
Level 3 fair value measurement 
 
Financial assets – available for sale:  The financial assets designated as available for sale (AFS) at                   
30 June 2016 consist of shares in a non-listed entity which are not actively traded. In the current financial year, 
the fair value of these assets has been estimated taking into consideration recently transacted prices for the 
shares, transaction and earnings multiple of other similar entities and the net asset value per share of the 
underlying investment. The AFS investment is categorised at Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy given the 
unobservability of these valuation variables. 
 
Loans and advances:  Where observable market transactions are not available to estimate the fair value of 
loans and advances, fair value is estimated using valuation models such as discounted cash flow techniques. 
For more details on the valuation of loans and advances and inputs to the valuation, refer to page 52. 
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7.7   Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 
 
Recognition and measurement 
 
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active markets are based on quoted 
market prices or dealer price quotations.  For all other financial instruments, the Group determines fair values 
using other valuation techniques. 
 
For financial instruments that trade infrequently and have little price transparency, fair value is less objective, 
and requires varying degrees of judgement depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of market 
factors, pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the specific financial instruments. 
 
All financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised on the settlement date.  
 
Fair value: The Group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy, which reflects the 
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements: 
Level 1 – the fair value is calculated using quoted prices in active markets. 
Level 2 – the fair value is estimated using inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices). 
Level 3 – the fair value is estimated using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable 
market data. 
 
The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement that reflects the price that would 
be received to sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date.  The following methods and assumptions are used to determine the net 
fair values of financial assets and liabilities. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents: The carrying amount approximates fair value as they are short term in nature or 
are receivable on demand. 
 
Financial assets - fair value through profit or loss: These assets are general insurance assets backing general 
insurance liabilities and are therefore designated at fair value through profit or loss to reduce the accounting 
mismatch between assets and related liabilities.  These assets are valued based on quoted market prices; 
where these are not available the following alternative valuation techniques are used: 

• Floating Rate Notes - external broker valuations 

• Retail Mortgage Backed Securities - external broker valuations 
• Term Deposits - the amortised cost is deemed to represent fair value, due to their short term nature 

(all mature within 3 months of year end) and the lack of fluctuations in the market interest rates or 
credit quality of the counterparts since their inception 

 
Financial assets - held to maturity: Financial assets held to maturity are initially recognised at fair value and 
subsequently carried at amortised cost as these assets are intended to be held until maturity.  The carrying 
value of financial assets held to maturity at 30 June 2016 recognised by the Group included negotiable 
certificate of deposits (NCD) and floating rate notes (FRN).  The Parent entity recognised NCDs, FRNs and 
internally held residential mortgage back securities (RMBS) of the Harvey Trust Series 2012-1R.  NCD and FRN 
assets approximate fair value as they are short term in nature or they reprice on a quarterly basis, these assets 
are categorised at Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.  RMBS approximate fair value as they are floating rate 
securities with a fixed rate over BBSW which reprices on a monthly basis.  RMBS are not listed or traded on an 
active market and contain inputs that are not observable which have a significant effect on the instrument’s 
valuation and accordingly are categorised at Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. 
 
Derivative financial instruments:  The fair value for derivative financial instruments are from quoted closing 
market prices at balance date, discounted cash flow models or option pricing models as appropriate.  Where 
there is no market value, the fair value is determined using valuation techniques for which all inputs which 
have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable either directly or indirectly.  The fair values 
of derivative financial instruments take into account both credit valuation adjustments (CVA) and debit 
valuation adjustments (DVA) when market participants take this into consideration in pricing the derivatives. 
 
Loans and advances:  The carrying value of loans, advances and other receivables is net of provisions for 
impairment.  The fair value is determined by adjusting the fixed rate loan portfolio for current market rates as 
at balance date.  
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7.7   Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 
 
Recognition and measurement (continued) 
 
For variable rate loans, excluding impaired loans, the carrying amount is a reasonable estimate of the net fair 
value.  The net fair value for fixed rate loans was calculated by utilising discounted cash flow models based on 
the maturity of the loans and creditworthiness of the customer.  The discount rates applied were based on the 
current benchmark rate offered for the average remaining term of the portfolio as at balance date. 
 
Financial assets - available for sale: The assets in this category relate to shares in non-listed entities. These 
assets are measured at fair value on initial recognition and subsequent measurement when they can be 
estimated reliably. Where their value cannot be measured reliably, the assets are measured at the carrying 
amount determined at the last date on which the fair value could be determined reliably, subject to 
impairment testing.  
 
Borrowings: The carrying values of payables due to other financial institutions approximate their fair value as 
they are short term in nature and reprice frequently. Borrowings are categorised at Level 2 in the fair value 
hierarchy. 
 
Deposits: The net fair value for deposits was calculated by utilising discounted cash flow models based on the 
maturity of the deposits.  The discount rates applied were based on the current benchmark rate offered for 
the actual remaining term of the portfolio as at balance date. 
 
The net fair value of non-interest bearing, call and variable rate deposits repriced within twelve months is the 
carrying value as at balance date. 
 
Use of judgements and estimates 
 
Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the balance sheet cannot be 
derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation models.  The inputs to these 
models are derived from observable market data where possible, but where observable market data is not 
available these assets are valued using valuation techniques based on non-observable data. 
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7.8 Related parties 
 
(a) Key management personnel (KMP) 
 
Compensation of CUA Directors and other KMP 
 
Compensation shown as short term benefits means (where applicable) salaries, paid annual leave and paid 
sick leave, bonuses, value of fringe benefits received, but excludes out of pocket expense reimbursements.  
CUA Directors and other KMP are only remunerated by the Parent. 
 

 

Directors Other KMP 

2016 2015 2016 2015 

  $ $ $ $ 

The aggregate compensation of KMP during the 
year comprising amount paid or payable or 
provided for was as follows:   

 
  

   
 

  
 - Short term employee benefits 896,488  842,341  4,224,552  4,595,653  

- Post employment benefits 158,231  197,769  -  -  

- Other long term benefits -  -  373,625  608,466  

- Termination benefits -  -  426,238  427,768  

 
1,054,719  1,040,110  5,024,415  5,631,887  

 
 
Included in post employment benefits is compensation relating to the directors' defined benefit plan. The plan 
provides lump sum benefits based on years of service and the final average salary for the respective directors. 
 
 
Financial instruments transactions with CUA Directors and other KMP 
 
Loans to CUA Directors and other KMP 
 

 

2016 2015 

  $ $ 

Aggregate of loans as at balance date     5,436,768    4,747,978  

Total undrawn revolving credit facilities available at balance date        133,057               -   

Interest charged on loans and overdraft facilities        116,660       219,697  

 
 
The above table includes amounts for CUA Directors and other KMP in office or employed by CUA at balance 
date and their related parties. Directors and other KMP who resigned during the 2016 financial year are 
excluded from the 2016 analysis, but are included in the 2015 comparative analysis. 
 
CUA’s policy for lending to CUA Directors and other KMP is that all loans are approved under the same 
lending criteria applicable to members.  All loans to CUA Directors and other KMP are at lending terms and 
conditions applicable to members. KMP may receive concessional rates of interest on their loans and facilities 
that are available to all CUA employees. 
 
No amounts have been written down or recorded as impaired during the year (2015: nil). 
 
There are no benefits or concessional terms and conditions applicable to the family members of CUA 
Directors and other KMP (2015: nil). No loan balances with family or relatives of CUA Directors and other KMP 
have been written down or recorded as impaired during the year (2015: nil). 
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7.8   Related parties (continued) 
 
(a) Key management personnel (continued) 
 
Other transactions with CUA Directors and other KMP 
 
Other transactions with CUA Directors and other KMP and their related parties generally relate to deposits 
and private health insurance.  
 
CUA’s policy for receiving deposits from other related parties and in respect of other related party 
transactions is that all transactions are approved and deposits accepted on the same terms and conditions 
that apply to members for each type of deposit. Interest has been paid on terms and conditions no more 
favorable than those available on similar transactions to members of CUA. 
 
KMP may receive discounts on premiums for private health insurance that are available to all CUA employees. 
 
 
(b) Controlled entities 
 
Particulars in relation to controlled entities 
 
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the ultimate parent Credit Union 
Australia Ltd and the subsidiaries listed in the following table: 
 
 

 
Equity interest % Investment $'000 

Name of entity 2016 2015 2016 2015 

CUA Health Ltd 100% 100% -  - 
Credicorp Finance Pty Ltd 100% 100% 800  800  
     Credicorp Insurance Pty Ltd 100% 100%   

      CUA Financial Planning Pty Ltd 100% 100%     

   
800  800  

  
 
Investments in controlled entities are carried at cost and eliminated on consolidation. 
 
All entities are incorporated in Australia. 
 
Securitisation 
 
The following securitisation trusts are controlled by CUA: 
 

• Series 2006-1 Harvey Trust (closed on 11 May 2016) 
• Series 2007-1 Harvey Trust 

• Series 2009-1 Harvey Trust (closed on 13 July 2015) 
• Series 2010-1 Harvey Trust (closed on 13 July 2015) 

• Series 2012-1R Harvey Trust 
• Series 2013-1 Harvey Trust 
• Series 2015-1 Harvey Trust 

• Harvey Warehouse Trust No.1 
• Harvey Warehouse Trust No.3 

 
As part of its operational activities, the Company securitises loan assets, generally through the sale of these 
assets to Special Purpose Entities (SPEs) which issue securities to investors and borrow from lenders (for 
Warehouses). As the Company remains exposed to the residual risk of the SPEs, the SPEs underlying loans, 
swaps, revenues and expenses have not been derecognised and are reported in the Credit Union’s income 
statement and balance sheet. 
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7.8   Related parties (continued) 
 
(b) Controlled entities (continued) 
 
Transfer of financial assets 
 
The following table sets out the financial assets transferred to the Harvey Trusts and Harvey Warehouse 
Trusts that did not qualify for derecognition and associated liabilities from conducting the securitisation 
program. 
 

 

Consolidated  Parent 

 
2016 2015 2016 2015 

 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Transferred financial assets         

Loans and advances at amortised cost 2,444,494  2,482,182  2,444,494  2,482,182  

          

Associated financial liabilities         

Securitisation liabilities - external investors 1,847,208  1,873,966  1,847,208  1,873,966  

Amounts due to parent -  -  670,769  676,264  

 
1,847,208  1,873,966  2,517,977  2,550,230  

For those liabilities that have recourse only to 
transferred assets:         

Fair value of transferred assets 2,427,782  2,449,777  2,427,782  2,449,777  

Fair value of associated liabilities 1,847,208  1,873,966  2,517,977  2,550,229  

Net position 580,574  575,811  (90,195) (100,452) 

 
 
Collateral  
 
The Parent has advanced $4.000 million (2015: $11.500 million) as cash collateral in relation to interest rate 
swaps for securitisation trusts.  The funds are held in restricted interest earning accounts and will be returned 
at maturity of the interest rate swap contracts. 
 
 
Significant restrictions 
 
The regulatory frameworks within which the health and general insurance subsidiaries operate, require these 
subsidiaries to keep certain levels of regulatory capital and liquid assets, limit their exposure to other parts of 
the Group and comply with various ratio requirements. The significant restrictions imposed by the regulatory 
frameworks are the only restrictions on CUA transferring the cash or other assets of the subsidiaries.  The 
carrying amount of these subsidiaries’ assets and liabilities are $96.648 million and $27.588 million 
respectively (2015: $96.087 million and $26.013 million respectively). 
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7.8   Related parties (continued) 
 
(b) Controlled entities (continued) 
 
Transactions with controlled entities 
 
The following table provides the total amount of transactions that were entered into by the Parent with 
controlled entities for the relevant financial year. These transactions were all carried out under normal 
commercial terms and where possible are benchmarked against industry averages. 
 
Transactions with controlled entities for the last two years to 30 June included: 
 

 
Parent 

 
2016 2015 

  $ $ 

Dividend revenue 3,500,000  4,300,000  
Commission revenue 3,553,725  3,015,628  
Net management fees 2,610,430  3,124,175  
Net interest income/(expense) (321,789) (509,455) 
Operating lease revenue 300,015  256,217  

 
 
The net amounts receivable from/(payable to) controlled entities as at 30 June were: 
 

 
Parent 

 
2016 2015 

  $ $ 

CUA Health Ltd  (11,099,310) (10,290,297) 
Credicorp Finance Pty Ltd  (102,270) (103,660) 
Credicorp Insurance Pty Ltd  (2,177,399) (1,509,476) 
CUA Financial Planning  Pty Ltd  (1,455,343) (2,019,057) 

 
 
 



Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2016 
 

    Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2016 
58  Credit Union Australia Ltd 

 

7.9  Commitments 
 
(a) Operating lease commitments 
 
CUA has entered into operating leases on office and branch properties, with lease terms predominantly 
between three and ten years. CUA has the option, under some of its leases, to lease the properties for 
additional terms of three to five years. In addition, CUA has entered into three year operating leases for its 
motor vehicle fleet. 
 
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as at 30 June are as follows: 
 

 
Consolidated Parent 

 
2016 2015 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Within one year 14,647  14,845  14,647  14,845  

After one but not more than five years 37,940  41,822  37,940  41,822  

More than five years 10,326  17,459  10,326  17,459  

 
62,913  74,126  62,913  74,126  

 
 
(b) Outstanding loan commitments not provided for 
 
Loan and credit facilities approved but not advanced or drawn at the end of the financial year are as follows: 
 
 

 
Consolidated Parent 

 
2016 2015 2016 2015 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Loans approved not advanced 298,462  328,836  298,462  328,836  

Undrawn overdrafts and credit facilities at call 225,254  229,830  225,254  229,830  

 
523,716  558,666  523,716  558,666  

 
 
(c) Capital commitments 
 
At 30 June 2016, the Group had a commitment of $0.861 million (2015: $0.764 million) predominantly relating 
to branch fitouts and IT related projects.   
 
 
(d) Superannuation commitments 
 
CUA contributes to a number of defined contribution superannuation funds, which provide benefits for 
employees on retirement, death or disability. Employees may contribute additional amounts of their gross 
income to their respective superannuation fund. CUA has no financial interest in any of the funds and is not 
liable for their performance or their obligations. 
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7.10 Remuneration of auditors 
 
The auditor of CUA is KPMG. 

 
Consolidated Parent 

 
2016 2015 2016 2015 

  $ $ $ $ 

Amounts received or due and receivable by KPMG 
for:   

 
  

 
   

 
  

 Audit services   
 

  
    Audit of financial statements 384,500  361,000  318,500  318,000  

   Other regulatory and audit services 218,000  118,000  138,500  35,000  

Total audit services 602,500  479,000  457,000  353,000  

   
 

  
 Audit related services 267,300  252,500  267,300  237,500  

   
 

  
 Non-audit services (2015: pre-appointment of KPMG 

as auditor)   
 

  
    Tax compliance services 7,500  10,000  -  10,000  

   Actuarial services -  120,314  -  30,892  

   Other services 146,000  33,319  146,000  33,319  

Total non-audit services 153,500  163,633  146,000  74,211  

   
 

  
 Total auditor's remuneration 1,023,300  895,133  870,300  664,711  

 
 
7.11 Economic dependency 
 
CUA has significant service contracts with Cuscal Limited. This entity provides CUA with rights to the VISA 
and Mastercard card systems in Australia and provides settlement services with other financial institutions for 
ATM, VISA and Mastercard card transactions, BPay, cheque processing and direct entry transactions. 
 
CUA has an agreement with Tata Consulting Services Limited for the perpetual licence, maintenance and 
support of CUA's core banking platform TCS BaNCS. 

 
 

7.12 Events subsequent to balance date 
 
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which have significantly affected 
the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group. 



Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2016 
 

    Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2016 
60  Credit Union Australia Ltd 

 

8. Accounting policies and new accounting standards 
 

8.1 Accounting policies 
 
(a) Basis of consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Credit Union Australia Ltd and all 
of its controlled entities (the Group). Controlled entities are all entities over which the Group has control. The 
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the 
entity. Controlled entities are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. 
They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 
 
The Group conducts an asset securitisation program through which it packages and sells asset-backed 
securities to investors and borrows from lenders (for Warehouses) through SPEs. The Group is entitled to any 
residual income of the SPE after all payments to investors and lenders and costs of the programs have been 
met. SPEs are consolidated by the Group where the Group has the power to govern directly or indirectly 
decision making in relation to financial and operating policies and receives the majority of the residual income 
or is exposed to the majority of the residual risk associated with the SPEs. 
 
All inter-company balances and transactions between entities in the Group, including any unrealised profit or 
losses, have been eliminated on consolidation. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar 
accounting policies that may exist. The financial statements of controlled entities are prepared for the same 
accounting period as the parent company.  
 
Where controlled entities have entered or left the Group during the year, their operating results have been 
included from the date control was obtained or until the date control ceased. 
 
(b) Borrowing costs 
 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that 
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of 
the cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. Borrowing 
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.  
 
(c) Impairment of non-financial assets  
 
The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If 
any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the 
asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to 
sell and its value in use. Recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not 
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or group of assets. When the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written 
down to its recoverable amount.  
 
(d) Leases 
 
Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are 
charged as expenses over the period of the lease on a straight-line basis unless another systematic basis is more 
representative of the time pattern of the benefits. 
 
The accounting for an arrangement in the legal form of a lease must reflect the substance of the arrangement. 
All aspects and implications of the arrangement must be evaluated to determine its substance, with weight 
given to those aspects and implications that have an economic effect. All aspects of an arrangement that 
does not, in substance, involve a lease under AASB 117 Leases must be considered in determining the 
appropriate disclosures that are necessary to understand the arrangement and the accounting treatment 
adopted.
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8.1   Accounting policies (continued) 
 
(d) Leases (continued) 
 
All lease incentives for the agreement of a new or renewed operating lease shall be recognised as an integral 
part of the net consideration agreed for the use of the leased asset, irrespective of the incentive’s nature or 
form or the timing of payments. The lessee shall recognise the aggregate benefit of incentives as a reduction 
of rental expense over the lease term, on a straight-line basis unless another systematic basis is representative 
of the time pattern of the lessee’s benefit from the use of the leased asset. 
  
 
Note: Certain accounting policies have been incorporated into relevant notes under the “Recognition and 
measurement” sections of those notes for ease of reference and to promote the usefulness of those 
disclosures. 
 

8.2 New accounting standards 
 
The Group has adopted the following new and amended Australian Accounting Standards and AASB 
Interpretations as of 1 July 2015: 
 

• AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, Materiality and 
Financial Instruments 

• AASB 2015-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Withdrawal of  AASB 
1031 Materiality 
 

The application of these standards and amendments do not materially impact the annual consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended, but are not 
yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 
2016 are outlined in the table below.  Based on preliminary assessments and other than disclosed below, 
management does not expect significant impacts to arise from these standards and interpretations subject to 
the Group's further detailed analysis and assessment process. 
 

Reference Title 
Nature of change to accounting 

policy 
Impact to the 

Group 

Application 
date of 

standard * 

Application 
date for 
Group * 

AASB 9  

 

Financial 
Instruments 

AASB 9 (December 2014) 
replaces AASB 139 and 
supersedes AASB 9 versions 
previously issued in December 
2009 and December 2010.  
 
The new standard includes a 
model for classification and 
measurement, a single forward-
looking ‘expected loss’ 
impairment model and a 
reformed approach to hedge 
accounting. 

The Group has 
carried out a 
preliminary 
impact 
assessment of the 
new standard.  

Please refer to the 
details of the 
impact 
assessment below.  

1 January 
2018 

1 July 2018 

AASB 2014-3  Amendments to 
Australian 
Accounting 
Standards – 
Accounting for 
Acquisitions of 
Interests in Joint 
Operations (AASB 
1 & AASB 11) 

These amendments provide 
guidance on the accounting for 
acquisitions of interest in joint 
operations in which the activity 
constitutes a business.  

The amendments 
are not expected 
to have a material 
impact on the 
Group. 

1 January 
2016 

1 July 2016 
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8.2 New accounting standards (continued) 
 

Reference Title 
Nature of change to accounting 

policy 
Impact to the 

Group 

Application 
date of 

standard * 

Application 
date for 
Group * 

AASB 15 Revenue from 
contracts with 
customers 

AASB 15 is based on the 
principle that revenue is 
recognised when control of a 
good or service transfers to a 
customer, so the notion of 
control replaces the existing 
notion of risks and rewards. 
 
This standard replaces AASB 111 
Construction Contracts, AASB 
118 Revenue and related 
interpretations. 
 
AASB 2015-8 amended the 
AASB 15 effective date to 
commence on or after 1 January 
2018. Early adoption is 
permitted. 
 
AASB 2014-15 incorporates the 
consequential amendments to a 
number of Australian 
Accounting Standards 
(including interpretations) 
arising from the issuance of 
AASB 15.  

The Group is in 
the process of 
assessing the 
impact of the new 
standard but does 
not expect a 
significant impact 
as most of its 
revenues arise 
from the provision 
of financial, health 
insurance and 
general insurance 
services which are 
governed by 
AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments and 
AASB 4 Insurance 
Contracts. 

1 January 
2018 

1 July 2018 

AASB 2015-1 Amendments to 
Australian 
Accounting 

Standards – 
Annual 
Improvements to 

Australian 
Accounting 
Standards 2012– 

2014 Cycle 

Amendments made to AASB 5 
relating to methods of disposals, 
AASB 7 disclosures, AASB 119 
clarification on use of corporate 
bonds for estimating discount 
rates, AASB 134 disclosures. 

The amendments 
are not expected 
to have a material 
impact on the 
Group. 

1 January 
2016 

1 July 2016 

AASB 2015-2 Amendments to 
Australian 
Accounting 

Standards – 
Disclosure 
Initiative: 

Amendments to 
AASB 101 

The Standard makes 
amendments to AASB 101 
Presentation of Financial 
Statements arising from the 
IASB’s Disclosure Initiative 
project. The amendments are 
designed to further encourage 
companies to apply professional 
judgement in determining what 
information to disclose in the 
financial statements.  

 

The amendments also clarify 
that companies should use 
professional judgement in 
determining where and in what 
order information is presented in 
the financial disclosures. 

The amendments 
clarify existing 
requirements of 
AASB 101 that do 
not direct the 
Group’s 
accounting 
policies or 
estimates and are 
therefore not 
expected to have 
a material impact 
on the Group. 

1 January 
2016 

1 July 2016 
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8.2   New accounting standards (continued) 
 

Reference Title 
Nature of change to accounting 

policy 
Impact to the 

Group 

Application 
date of 

standard * 

Application 
date for 
Group * 

AASB 16 Leases AASB 16 was issued in February 
2016. Early application is 
permitted for entities that apply 
AASB 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers at or 
before the date of initial 
application of this standard. 
The key features of AASB 16 in 
respect of lessee accounting are 
as follows: 

• Lessees are required to 
recognise assets and 
liabilities for all leases with a 
term of more than 12 
months, unless the 
underlying asset is of low 
value. 

• Assets and liabilities arising 
from a lease are initially 
measured on a present 
value basis taking into 
consideration the 
contractual lease period and 
likely optional periods. 

• A lessee subsequently 
measures right-of-use assets 
similarly to other non-
financial assets and lease 
liabilities similarly to other 
financial liabilities. 

The Group has 
carried out a 
preliminary 
impact 
assessment of the 
new standard.  

Please refer to the 
details of the 
impact 
assessment below. 

 

 

1 January 
2019 

1 July 2019 

AASB 2016-1  Amendments to 
IAS 12 Income Tax 

These narrow scope 
amendments to AASB 112 clarify 
the accounting for deferred tax 
where an asset is measured at 
fair value and that fair value is 
below the asset’s tax base.  
They do not change the 
underlying principles for the 
recognition of deferred tax 
assets. 

The amendments 
are not expected 
to have a material 
impact on the 
Group. 

1 January 
2017 

1 July 2017 

AASB 2016-2 Amendments to 
IAS 7 Statement 
of Cash Flows 

These narrow scope 
amendments to AASB 107 
introduce additional disclosures 
that will enable users of financial 
statements to evaluate changes 
in liabilities arising from 
financing activities. The 
amendments requires 
disclosures of changes arising 
from cash flows, such as draw 
down and repayments of 
borrowings and non-cash 
changes, such as acquisition, 
disposals and unrealised 
exchange differences. 

The amendments 
are not expected 
to have a material 
impact on the 
Group as these 
amendments 
relate to 
additional 
disclosure 
requirements only. 

1 January 
2017 

1 July 2017 

 
*   Designates the beginning of the applicable annual reporting period unless the Group opt for early adoption 
where permitted by the standard.  
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8.2   New accounting standards (continued) 
 
AASB 9 impact assessment 
 
The Group has carried out a high level impact assessment of AASB 9 on the key areas and requirements of 
the standard as follows: 
 
Classification and measurement 
 
(i) Financial assets 
 
The classification and measurement of financial assets is determined on the basis of the contractual cash flow 
characteristics and the objective of the business model associated with holding the asset.  
 
Key changes include the removal of the AASB 139 Held to Maturity (HTM) and Available for Sale (AFS) asset 
categories. A new asset category measured at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) is 
introduced. This applies to financial asset debt instruments with contractual cash flow characteristics that are 
solely payments of principle and interest and held in a model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets. 
 
Classification and measurement of financial assets will remain largely unchanged for CUA with the HTM 
investments reclassified as the amortised cost and FVOCI categories, and the AFS investment reclassified as 
FVOCI.  There may be possible impacts that arise and this is dependent on the financial assets and liabilities at 
the date of transition.   
 
(ii) Financial liabilities 
 
AASB 9 retains almost all of the existing requirements in AASB 139 on subsequent measurement of financial 
liabilities with the exception of the treatment of own credit risk relating to financial liabilities designated at fair 
value through profit or loss (FVTPL) which is generally presented in other comprehensive income (OCI).  
 
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities will remain largely unchanged for CUA as the majority of 
its financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
 
Hedging 
 
The requirements for general hedge accounting have been simplified for hedge effectiveness testing and may 
result in more designations of groups of items as the hedged items based on closer alignment with risk 
management activities. 
 
The new hedging requirements are not expected to impact materially on CUA based on its existing interest 
rate swap contracts.  There may be possible impacts that arise and this is dependent on the financial assets 
and liabilities at the date of transition.   
 
Impairment 
  
The final version of AASB 9 introduces a new expected-loss impairment model that will require more timely 
recognition of expected credit losses. Specifically, the new Standard requires entities to account for expected 
credit losses from when financial instruments are first recognised and to recognise full lifetime expected 
losses on a more timely basis. 
 
The impact of the new impairment requirement is summarised below. 
 
Preliminary assessment of impact on transition 
 
The overall impact of applying AASB 9 on the group financial statements will be a decrease in net assets 
ranging from $2.177 million to $6.083 million depending on key risk parameters and assumptions applied in 
judgmental areas. The impact can be analysed as follows: 
 

• an increase in collective provision by $3.110 million to $8.690 million 

• an increase in deferred tax assets by $0.933 million to $2.607 million 
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8.2   New accounting standards (continued) 
 
Adjustments during the transition process will be recognised either in opening retained earnings or the 
general reserve for credit losses. 
 
It should be noted that the range of potential outcomes illustrated above are high level best estimates 
focused on material items at the time of calculation. Actual outcomes based on the size and credit 
characteristics of the portfolio prevailing on adoption of the standard may be higher or lower than these 
estimates. 
 
AASB 16 impact assessment 
 

Management has carried out a high level impact assessment of the impact of this standard.  

 
Using existing operating lease agreements, CUA would need to recognise lease liabilities and corresponding 
Right of Use assets (ROU assets) of approximately $65.596 million on its balance sheet. 
 
The ROU assets will be depreciated over the life of the leases and the lease liabilities accreted for the 
unwinding of the discount over the life of the leases. Had the requirements of AASB 16 been applied, there will 
be a depreciation charge of $14.388 million in respect of the ROU assets and interest expense of $1.395 million 
in respect of the unwinding of discount to the profit or loss. 









Credit Union Australia Ltd
ABN: 44 087 650 959

Registered office: Level 23, 145 Ann Street, Brisbane QLD 4000
133 282  |  cua.com.au


